

Consumer responses to (a)typical label design within standardized glass packaging shape

Master Thesis submitted in fulfillment of the Degree Master of Business Administration

Submitted to Mag. Dr. Marion Garaus Charlotte Jermendy 1802017

AFFIDAVIT

I hereby affirm that this Master's Thesis represents my own written work and that I have used no sources and aids other than those indicated. All passages quoted from publications or paraphrased from these sources are properly cited and attributed.

The thesis was not submitted in the same or in a substantially similar version, not even partially, to another examination board and was not published elsewhere.

25th June 2021

Date

ABSTRACT

The aim of this paper is to bring to the attention of marketers that the progression of standardized glass packaging carries design opportunities for the development of both marketing and branding strategies.

Consumer awareness of waste problems associated with discarded packaging is steadily increasing. In 2017 the packaging waste generated per EU inhabitant was 173,8kg (Eurostat 2017). Within a year, the waste generated per inhabitant in the EU increased by 200g (Eurostat 2018), warranting the necessity for further attention both to packaging design and its management. Packaging plays a key role in the transportation and protection of products throughout the various steps of their logistical networks. Both disposable and reusable containers are used in this process, while consumer concern over sustainability is encouraging the recycling and reuse of containers. A steady shift from plastic to glass has been occurring over the past years. There is further increasing attention within the EU towards the further deployment of Direct Refund Service (DRS) systems for standardized glass packaging, wherein a container is collected, reconditioned and then reused. The success of standardized beer bottles within DRS systems makes a good case for the implementation of standardized glass packaging onto further consumer goods. Current trend show that DRS systems are being discussed for further glass contained consumer goods. This would mean more products having the same packaging container, leaving marketers and branders with only the container label or lid as means of brand differentiation.

The thesis addresses why it will become of greater relevance for marketers and branders to find innovative means of making their products stand out. Through the gathering of empirical data, this paper proposes potential design opportunities and design solutions for further development by marketers and branders, in order for their products to stand out despite the restrictions of standardized glass containers. The paper concludes with reviews of the results and suggestions for further investigation.

The research and its findings are relevant to the marketing and branding sectors contributing to the currently underexplored academic field of innovative standardized glass container labeling. The primary research was of quantitative nature. An online experiment was conducted to assess the impact of atypical vs. typical packaging label design in the context standardized glass packaging on various consumer responses. The results gathered provide various new insights into consumer interest, consumer brand attitude and consumer purchase intention, when faced with (a)typical label design on standardized glass packaging.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

Foremost, I would like to thank my supervisor Mag. Dr. Marion Garaus for her unrelenting support and enthusiasm. Her guidance and kind demeanor were motivators throughout each and every stage of this research paper.

I would also like to thank my husband. Thank you for being you.

Lastly, I would like to thank my mother and little sister who have always been by my side, and without their support, this paper would not have been possible.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

AFFIDAVITI					
ABSTRACTIII					
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTSIV					
LIST OF TABLESVI					
LIST OF FIGURES					
1	1 INTRODUCTION				
2	LITERATURE REVIEW				
	21	REUSABLE PACKAGING. TRENDS AND LEGISLATIONS	11		
	2.1	DEPOSIT REFLIND SYSTEMS (DRS)	13		
	2.2	LIFE CYCLE ASSESSMENT OF RELISABLE PACKAGING	18		
	2.5	LIMITATIONS WITH THE ROLL-OLIT OF RELISABLE PACKAGING	19		
	2.5	RELISABLE PACKAGING OPPORTUNITIES FOR MANUFACTURERS	20		
	2.6	PACKAGING AS MEANS OF BRANDING	21		
	2.0	PACKAGING LABELLING AS A MEANS OF BRANDING	22		
	2.7				
3	CONC	CEPTUAL FRAMEWORK	. 30		
	3.1	HEURISTICS	.32		
	3.2	CONSUMER RESPONSE TO SCHEMA INCONGRUITY	.33		
	3.3	CONSUMER RESPONSE TO DEVIATION AND ATYPICALITY	.36		
	3.4	PRODUCT CATEGORIZATION THEORY	.37		
	3.5	CONSUMER RESPONSE TO ANTHROPOMORPHIC PACKAGING DESIGN	.39		
4	EXPERIMENT				
	4.1	Participants	.44		
	4.2	STIMULUS & PROCEDURE	.44		
	4.3	DEPENDENT MEASURES	.46		
	4.4	Preliminary Data Analysis	.48		
	4.4.1	Reliability analysis	.48		
	4.4.2	Manipulation checks	.49		
	4.5	Analysis and results	.50		
	4.5.1	The Effect of Atypicality on Interest	.50		
	4.5.2	The Effect of Interest on Attitude	.51		
	4.5.3	The Effect of attitude on purchase intention	.52		
5	CON		53		
6	6 LIMITATIONS AND FURTHER RESEARCH: 56				
7	RIRI				
1	DIDLIGGINAFTTT				
	7.1	BOOKS AND JOURNALS	.58		
	7.2	Online sources	.65		
8	APPENDIX				

LIST OF TABLES

- Table 1. Classification of reusable packaging
- Table 2. Cornbach's alpha
- Table 3. Results of reliability analysis
- Table 4. Bar chart comparing typical vs. atypical conditions for typicality, interest and anthropomorphism
- Table 5. Linear Regression Analysis. Dependent variable: Attitude
- Table 6. Linear Regression Analysis. Dependent variable: Purchase intention

LIST OF FIGURES

- Figure 1. Reverse vending machine diagram
- Figure 2. share of reusable beverage packaging in Austria in % development from 2000 to 2007
- Figure 3. Wine shelf at Spar supermarket, Vienna, Austria
- Figure 4. Consumer buying behavior model
- Figure 5. conceptual model and results of experiment 1
- Figure 6. Spar Supermarket product shelf offering within the pickled vegetables category
- Figure 7. Target group stimulus material with atypical condition
- Figure 8. Control group stimulus material with typical condition
- Figure 9. Detailed conceptual model and results of experiment 1

1 INTRODUCTION

Imagine you are standing in the supermarket aisle looking at a shelf filled with different brands of pickle jars and you have no idea which one to buy or how to differentiate them. Knowing that consumers apply heuristics when going grocery shopping (Reber et al. 2004) and that very small cues can influence their decision, a consumer might therefore be more likely to select the pickle jar with a packaging that stands out or is perceived as atypical within its product category. Atypical packaging shape has been proven to augment cognitive processing, willingness to pay and increase product quality judgement (van Ooijen et al. 2016). This, paired with research showing that consumers are prone to wanting to make quick and efficient decisions (Babin et al. 1994), highlights the importance of packaging shape and atypicality on the purchasing decision of a consumer. Now imagine that due to legislation all pickle jars look the same, how can a firm substantially differentiate itself from their competitor, if the packaging shape is the same as that of its competitor? A product's packaging is a key way to communicate brand messaging to consumers. Particularly when it comes to consumers' purchasing decisions, the latter has been recognized as the most important means of communication (Underwood et al. 2001; van Rompay et al. 2012). Though plenty of research has been undertaken in different aspects of packaging design such as texture (Veryzer and Hutchinson 1998), shape (Folkes and Matta 2004; Raghubir and Greenleaf 2006; Schoormans and Robben 1997) and color (Garaus and Halkias 2019; Labrecque and Milne 2013), little attention has been devoted to the opportunities and challenges facing packaging label design within standardized packaging shape and its potential impact on consumers.

Packaging consumption has been growing over the past years in part due to changing consumer trends and retail developments towards added convenience and lifestyle (Skoda 2017). Globalization, simpler logistics systems for single-use packaging as well as supply chains preferences for the latter, have added to the growing waste problem (Coelho et al. 2020). Packaging is presently the primary user of virgin materials. This means that its materials are sourced directly from nature in their raw form, as opposed to using recycled materials (Coelho et al. 2020), with the former using considerably more energy and straining of natural resources. In Europe, 50% of paper (CEPI 2018) and 40% of plastics (Plastics Europe 2018) are used for packaging, and 36% of municipal solid waste is generated through the latter (Eurostat 2018). Cultural and environmental influences are showing sector trends away from single-use packaging. The past 40 years have made considerable efforts to

reduce the impact of packaging on the environment through improved material selection and 'lightweighting' packaging (Holdway et al. 2002; Lewis et al. 2001). These redesign efforts, however, have done little to considerably dent the impact of packaging waste on our environment. Whilst Europe is recycling and recovering more packaging year on (Eurostat 2017), its growing demography means that the production of waste is also increasing (Eurostat 2018), thus rendering minimal improvements to the overall waste problems. The circular economy, encompassing among other Rethink, Reuse, Redesign, Remanufacture, Repair, Recover and other "R" variations, are currently being investigated (Potting et al. 2017; Reike et al. 2018; Kirchherr et al. 2017) as ways to shift from material recycling to packaging reuse. Despite these initiatives and advancements in eco-design, we are still seeing an increase at an average rate of 1 % per year in packaging waste across Europe (Eurostat 2011). The extensive use of refillable packaging is seen as able to effectively reduce the amount of packaging waste ending up in landfills (Lofthouse 2014). Thus, packaging reuse signifies a great opportunity to keep the function of the packaging and potentially achieve large reductions in material use and environmental impacts. The effectiveness of reusable packaging depends on the shape of the packaging container, with standardized containers being the most effective way to reuse the packaging.

Environmental trends show a sectoral shift toward increased deployment of reusable standardized packaging as well as an increase consumer partiality towards such packaging (Statista 2019; Beinschab 2020). In light of this as well as of the abundant marketing research identifying packaging shape as key for both product identification and brand positioning, it is surprising that very little research has been done so far to identify the impact standardized packaging shape has on consumer behavior. Furthermore, it is not clear which branding strategy is most suitable for reusable packaging in order to optimize product differentiation. The present research tries to empirically address this matter by investigating the relative influence that typical versus atypical packaging label design has on consumers when choosing products that all use the same packaging container. The findings contribute to research on product packaging design by emphasizing the significance of innovative packaging design within the restrictive parameters of standardized packaging shape.

2 LITERATURE REVIEW

2.1 Reusable Packaging: Trends and Legislations

The reuse of packaging is not a new development, but an already established practice. Prevalent both in B2B (crates, pallets etc.) and B2C (beer bottles, mineral water etc.) markets, packaging reuse has been implemented across Europe. The past decades however have seen a decrease in the deployment of reusable packaging as well as unsuccessful attempts to extend their use beyond traditional and success cases such as beer. It must however be highlighted that technological advances and the progress of product service systems gives reason to re-evaluate the position of refillable packaging systems. European countries lacking strict legislation on reuse packaging consume more single-use packaging (Golding 1999), offering simplified logistics system for both retailers and distributors. The Netherlands for example previously sold dairy products (milk, yogurt etc.) in glass and plastic reusable containers, but have since replaced these with single-use packaging (Hyslop 2020) resulting in more material use and waste volume that negatively impact the environment. Reusable packaging is recognized as a means of reducing the volume of packaging material, energy consumption and incurring emissions. If deployed, reusable packaging could replace 20% of plastic containeers in circulation (Ellen MacArthur Foundation 2017).

As early as 1994, the European Parliament enacted the Packaging and Packaging Waste directive (EUR-Lex 1994), stating that its Member States had to comply with 'essential requirements' and meet targets for the composition, recovery and recycling of packaging. The latter pushing the issue of packaging and ways to sustainably develop it to the forefront of marketers and branders consideration. Since then, the EU has been steadily increasing its shift toward more sustainable forms of packaging. By 2030, the European Parliament has stipulated that its use of reusable packaging should be increased by 1% (Marowski 2017). As recently as March 2020, Austria joined the 'European Plastics Pact' (EPP 2020) stating that by 2025 plastic packaging and single-use packaging should become reusable. Across Europe, retailers have initiated refilling and reusing systems. These come in a multitude of forms and apply to different product categories: bulk dispensers, refillable parent packaging, returnable packaging, and transit packaging. Table 1 shows the different types of reusable packaging currently in circulation, with this paper focusing solely on returnable packaging.

Type of				
packaging	Packaging examples description	Product examples		
	Customers use their packaging or	Cereals, grains, candy, wine, juice,		
Refillable by	brand's refillable packaging in-store	mineral water, beer, olive oil, vinegar,		
Bulk Dispenser	or at a mobile truck, making the use	detergent, soap, hair care products,		
	of further packaging unnecessary.	perfume, body and face lotion		
	Bottle, container, pouch, pod, tab-	Makeup, dental floss, tooth and		
	let, powder	mouth wash tabs, deodorant, per-		
	The refill packaging is made with less	fume, cosmetics, cleaning products,		
	ant packaging can be refilled by:	hair care products, havored water		
Pofillable	• pouring product inside parent			
Parent Packaging	nackaging.			
i arciit i ackaging	• placing container inside of parent			
	packaging:			
	 diluting concentrated product in 			
	water inside parent packaging.			
	Container, bottle, cup, plate, bowl	Beer, soft drinks, mineral water, per-		
		ishables, detergent, soap, cosmetics,		
		hair care products.		
Returnable	Customers return empty packaging	Reusable cups, containers, plates. (for		
Packaging	which will be cleaned and refilled for	events, cafes, restaurants)		
	future use by the retailer/producer			
	(can be combined with a deposit			
	system to provide a financial incen-			
	Boyes containers soft nackages	Reusable packaging for transport or		
	boxes, containers, sont packages	shipping of perishables or non-perish-		
		ables.		
	Customers receive the product in re-	B2C: for moving home or office loca-		
	usable packaging which is returned	tion or e-commerce delivery of ap-		
Transit Dackaging	by door delivery/pick up or through	parel, furniture or perishables.		
Transit Packaging	the post office.			
		B2B transport from producer-ware-		
	Crates, pallets, wrappers	house-store.		
	Customer reuses packaging multiple			
	times before being returned to the			
	producer or disposed of.			

TABLE 1 CLASSIFICATION OF REUSABLE PACKAGING.Source: Coelho, et al. 2020

In 2018 drug store DM tested refilling stations for detergents and has since expanded the system across their stores in Austria (DM 2020). Zero Waste stores offering packaging free purchases where customers bring their own containers have also been picking up (Zero Waste Austria 2020). Aldi US supermarkets announced that 100% of its packaging would be reusable, recyclable or compostable

by 2025 (Aldi 2019) and launched their initiative to make it easier for consumers to reuse their private-label packaging materials in 2020 (Manning 2019). Coca-Cola and Nestlé have recently come under fire for being the largest plastic polluters for the third consecutive year, with Nestlé pledging that from 2025 onwards their products will only be sold in reusable and recycled bottles (McVeigh 2020). At the end of 2020, The Ferrero Group announced its commitment for 100% of packaging to be reusable, recyclable or compostable by 2025. It is also currently piloting a scheme in Paris together with Loop and French supermarket Carrefour, wherein shoppers can purchase reusable Nutella jars with a deposit refund scheme seeing Carrefour collect the empty jars for washing and reuse. (Ferrero 2020). Emma Priestland, Global Campaign Coordinator for 'Break Free From Plastic' states that "The only way to halt the growing global tide of plastic is to stop production, phase out single use and implement reuse systems." (McVeigh 2020). For decades now, beer bottles have been successfully reused, due to short transport distances and their high turnover rates, as well as its well-designed packaging systems. The EU's aim should be to translate this success onto further consumer products.

Due to marketing reasons, packaging design varies. In the case of reusable beer bottles, the packaging container remains the same, with only the label as means of differentiation. Nevertheless, plenty of research has been done into the impacts and advantages arising from service systems, limited attention has been paid to product packaging and the marketing and branding opportunities therein. The shift from single use to multiple use packaging is a sustainable way of transitioning to a circular economy, yet more attention needs to be placed onto branding solutions for these standardized packagings, as well as consumer preferences for such packaging options. Presently there is a lack of data on the use and market share of reusable packaging, its impact on the environment and the economy (Golding 1999; Rigamonti et al. 2019), as well as the future of branding and marketing potential within the restrictive parameters of standardized packaging shape.

2.2 Deposit Refund Systems (DRS)

In the Business-to-Consumer market (B2C), the reuse model differs in terms of packaging ownership and packaging return/refill (Ellen McArthur Foundation 2017). The "Refill at home" model sees users part-take in a subscription service whereby their containers are refilled at home. The "Return from home" model sees packaging being collected from the home of a user by a pick-up service. The "Refill on the go" model has users refill their reusable packaging containers in stores or at dispensing systems. The model in this paper focuses on is the "Return on the go" model, whereby users return packaging at a store or deposit-refund systems (DRS). Theoretical models have indicated that the DRS model is superior to alternative waste disposal policies in controlling waste pollution (Walls 2011). In the B2C market, this model is most commonly known in drinks such as beer, water or carbonated drinks. The more packaging containers are reused, the lower the impact packaging systems have on the environment. In order for a high reuse rate to be achieved, the industry has included the use of voluntary deposit refund systems (DRS) on reusable packaging. Deposit schemes see 99% of materials being recycled and here bottle-to-bottle recycling can be performed (PWC 2011). The trend is moving back to reuse for environmental concerns, where reusable bags are increasingly replacing single-use carrier bags. Charges as well as bans on light-weight carrier bags are turning consumers attention toward reuse (Radhakrishnan 2015). Some European member states have even introduced mandatory deposit refund systems on one-way packaging containers. DRS schemes sometimes include bottle crates, though the bottle labels, lids and caps are singleuse. This is a factor that marketers and branders alike should take into account when considering innovative approaches to reusable and sustainable packaging. A European analysis of current trends indicates that the market share of reusable packaging and the recycling rates will continue deteriorating in some countries without the addition of new measures (European Parliament's Committee on Foreign Affairs 2011). The separation of waste for recycling is the first activity that Europeans think of when asked how they can contribute to environmental protection (Eurobarometer 2018). An operative waste collection and recycling system is key for a material-efficient economy. DRS schemes incentivizes the consumer to return the empty container to collection points by offering a refundable deposit that the consumer paid when purchasing the item. Should a consumer choose not to return the container, the deposit is lost. Collection points can usually be found in retail outlets where consumers can either return the empty containers to a counter or to automated 'reverse vending machines' (RVMs). The empty containers are collected and either recycled into new containers or returned to beverage packaging industries for reuse and refill (Fig. 1).



FIGURE 1. REVERSE VENDING MACHINE DIAGRAM Source: Tomra Newsroom, 2020

DRS schemes are better for the environment by ensuring that containers can be recycled and reused (Hogg et al. 2017). It reduces the need for raw materials to produce new containers as well as reducing the number of containers that end up in landfills. DRS Systems also keep waste and litter away from groundwater, streets and oceans. Despite the environmental benefits, reusable beverage containers have been decreasing across different product categories (Fig. 2). From 2000 to 2015 Europe saw a decrease of 20% in its sales of reusable containers (Reloop 2020). Convenience, lifestyle and cheaper packaging alternatives have aided the depreciation of consumer use of reusable containers. Currently the reusable and refillable products that remain thriving are industry and product specific i.e.: beer.

Glass containers used to be the most common packaging for beverages with consumers being used to return containers to their local supermarkets. With the introduction of PET and cartons containers in the 1990s, consumers shifted toward a more lightweight form of packaging.



FIGURE 2. SHARE OF REUSABLE BEVERAGE PACKAGING IN AUSTRIA IN % - DEVELOPMENT FROM 2000 TO 2007 **Source: European Parliament, 2011**

As this no longer offered similar possibilities of being returned, instead this material was being disposed of at home. Due to consumer pressure, retailers were forced to move further into the direction of PET and carton containers. From a purely financial standpoint, retailers were not going to continue providing consumers with returnable containers if the demand had decreased in this area and increased in the area of PET and carton containers (Spar 2020).

It must however be noted that it is only very recently that the overall sales of one-way beverage containers surpassed the refillables in Germany, and that refillables in general will remain a strong system (Reloop 2020). The trend back to DRS schemes can be seen across multiple European countries. A 2019 UK survey of the British public found that 80% of its respondents would be likely to use DRS schemes. Of those, 58% stated they would be very likely to use it (Statista 2019). A poll conducted in 2020 found that 84% of Austrians are in favor of expanding the existing deposit system on further glass bottles (Beinschab 2020). Ten European countries currently operate legally regulated deposit refund systems, covering 26% of Europe's population. Due to strict European requirements regarding packaging waste recycling, other countries are also considering shifting toward deposit refund systems (Deloitte 2019). Talks are currently underway in Belgium, France, the UK, Slovakia, Romania, Spain, Latvia, Malta, Portugal and Austria. As of 2021 Turkey will be introducing DRS schemes (Eunomia 2019) and the following year will see Scotland - as the first region in the UK - to roll out their DRS systems (Doherty 2020). These are but a few of the current trends toward DRS systems.

Austria currently has a deposit system in place for returnable bottles such as beer and mineral water. There is, however, no deposit refund system in place for one-way containers for PET, aluminum and glass. Hofer and Lidl supermarkets are coming under considerable pressure from environmental campaigning organizations such as Greenpeace to install DRS systems (Greenpeace 2020). Billa supermarkets are already expanding their multiple-use packaging product range from Beer to milk and yogurt (Ja Natürlich 2020) and Spar Supermarkets in Austria have the largest segments of returnable glass container products, which they run under their own brand name for milk, soda water, apple juice, orange juice, cola and their herbal soda drinks (Spar 2020). After two decades of Austrian consumer stagnation vis-à-vis returnable containers, the share sale for reusable containers has been steadily increasing since 2016, albeit at a very slow but steady rate (Spar 2020). The shift from non-returnable to returnable containers is a slow and steady one due to the low demand for returnable containers. The decreased demand for reusable systems and thus the lower demand for glass containers, means some glassworks also closed shop (Spar 2020). Moreover, existing systems have been dismantled and investments in the washing and filling facilities have decreased as they are only economically beneficial when there is a high demand in the system (Spar 2020). The Austrian dairy industry first trialed one-way glass containers for milk to gage the consumer traction on glass packaging before investing into returnable systems for milk and expanding it to further dairy products such as yogurt. Both the REWE Group, which includes Billa supermarkets, and Spar decided in March 2020 to sell their milk in reusable glass containers. Both companies use the same glass containers, meaning that the containers can be returned at either supermarket shop, easing the logistics for the consumer. The more return outlets are provided to consumers, the more enticing and seamless consumers will find the process (der Standard 2020). Currently, with the growing demand for glass containers, the existing European glassworks cannot keep up with the demand. Larger orders needed for returnable glass containers currently have a delivery schedule of up to six months (Spar 2020).

The effectiveness of reusable packaging depends on the shape of the packaging container, with standardized containers being the most effective way to reuse packaging. The success of this approach is itself dependent on DRS schemes being successfully deployed. With the European Commission placing stricter requirements on collecting and recycling containers, the future growth and continent wide roll out of deposit refund systems seems ever clearer. The positive experience of European countries that have already implemented this system shows that they can offer a range of advantages including increasing recycling waste rates, raw material improvement and promote

a pro-environmental social awareness. The successful implementation of this system in some European countries paves the way in support of a clear roadmap for the further roll out of DRS schemes onto further European countries. The European Union is considering expanding the country wide standardized glass containers onto Europe wide standardized container shapes, meaning that cross border reuse and refill can be executed. With these advancements in mind, DRS systems will have a considerable impact on the packaging market and on the sectors involved in marketing and branding the packaging, with a key challenge being product differentiation within standardized glass packaging.

2.3 Life Cycle Assessment of reusable packaging

Both within the B2B and the B2C sector, research has shown that a significant amount of packaging material can be reduced through the use of reusable containers (e.g. Hekkert et al. 2000). Several environmental studies use commonly accepted Life Cycle Analysis (LCA) methods. Available studies comparing the LCA of reusable packaging have found that generally and, in most cases, reusable bottles outperform single-use bottles (Hunt and Franklin 1996). Refillable bottles emit less greenhouse emissions and have a lower environmental impact than single-use bottles (Simon et al. 2016). The consultancy c7-consult undertook a study in 2019 which's report shows results based on the ISO 14044 Life Cycle Assessment for containers pertaining to typical branded products in the beverages and detergents sector in Austria (c7-consult 2019). Their report describes the results for water, milk, soft drinks (CSD: carbonated soft drinks) and detergents as offered in the Austrian food retail trade. The results generated by the c7-consult report clearly indicate that in all impact categories - climate change, acidification potential, summer smog and water consumption, as well as across the product categories water, milk, soft drinks (CSD: carbonated soft drinks) and detergents under examination - the LCA of non-returnable glass containers perform worse than that of returnable glass container. Overall glass single-use containers have the worst performance and rPET reusable containers on average have the best overall performance (c7-consult 2019). Though rPET outperforms reusable glass containers when it comes to its impact on the climate, reusable glass containers outperform all rPET bottles in terms of their impact on the environment. PET bottles can be reused up to 20 times and glass up to 40 times. The reuse of glass bottles only up to 20 times already sees an energy saving of 76.91% (Sordo 2020). As a recyclable material, the nature of glass makes it environmentally the most desirable packaging type. With the innovation of lightweight glass offering the same resistance as the older glass but with greater stability, all the whilst reducing the volume of raw materials used, glass as a packaging type has become more environmentally

desirable (Vetropack 2021; Cleary 2013). As an infinitely and 100% recyclable material that is relatively easy to manage, glass lends itself to be a seamless material for the success of a circular and sustainable business model. The goal should therefore be to decrease the number of single-use glass containers in circulation and shift toward a consumption of predominantly multiple-use glass containers. There are key factors however that affect the environmental and economic data, among other the distance of the transported goods to their refilling centers, refillable rates and the impact of cleaning, sorting and maintenance (Dubiel 1996) as well as product damage (Welcome 2011).

2.4 Limitations with the roll-out of reusable packaging

The successful introduction of reusable packaging depends on an effective interplay between consumers, producers and retailers. The varying factors contributing toward a shift in reusable packaging has been investigated by numerous scholars (e.g. Gardas et al. 2019; Silva et al. 2013). The existing literature highlights the main obstacles for consumer acceptance as being inconvenience, ineffective communication of the financial incentive and of the disposable options, as well as a limited understanding of the positive impact that the reuse of packaging has on the environment (e.g. Gardas et al. 2019; Neill et al. 2016).

For retailers, the potential roadblocks and hurdles lie in additional space for storage and dispensers, staff training, hygiene requirements, maintenance and cleaning (Coelho et al. 2020). The producers face obstacles in the restructuring of their business model which would necessitate reverse logistics, new product marketing and design, communication strategy and logistical investments (Coelho et al. 2020). For every successful reusable packaging case study such as beer bottles, there are unsuccessful case studies such as soft drinks or water. The economic assessments vary with breweries finding reusable bottles cheaper but soft drink producers asserting the opposite. With retailers, marketers, national cultures, as well as local regulations presenting different opinion and packaging preferences, it is clear that an EU-wide policy plays a key role in the development and implementation of reusable packaging. Taxing single-use packaging has been an effective way to reduce its use in Belgium, Denmark and Finland, and compulsory DRS schemes in Germany are policy measures already applied. The effectiveness of tax is best illustrated in the Finish model whereby their use of reusable bottles consisting of 73% for beer bottles and 98% for carbonated drinks saw a considerable drop when the levy on non-recyclable containers was revoked in 2008 (Morawski 2017).

2.5 Reusable packaging opportunities for manufacturers

Consumers are increasingly adapting to the use of service systems to satisfy their needs, wants and aspiration. What previously had to be owned, is now being shared or borrowed i.e., transportation (DriveNow, CityBike, Lime etc.) or fashion (Rent The Runway). In the business to consumer market, this model has been adapted to satisfy the sustainable aspiration of consumers by enabling them to return packaging for reuse (Coelho et al. 2020). Deliveroo has partnered with reusable packaging firm Returnr (Deliveroo 2019) to offer customers their meals in custom-designed reusable stainlesssteel bowls that consumers can return to a partner restaurant in exchange for their deposit. McDonalds and Burger King have also launched similar initiatives with Burger King partnering with American firms Loop and TerraCyle's and launched their returnable packaging both for drinks and solid foods (Albrecht 2020). Reusable packaging both for standardized containers or for company specific packaging is a playground for markets and branders to uncover innovative and creative solutions, as well as to reassess desirable characteristics and novel business models. Returnable products specific to certain retail outlets provide an opportunity for retailers to increase customer loyalty. On the consumer front, demands are becoming increasingly sophisticated and include personalization and quality (Coelho et al. 2020). Seeing the impact packaging has on the environment, consumers are seeking less wasteful and more eco-friendly alternatives (Orzan et al. 2018). Consumer preferences for reusable packaging can be influenced by social behaviors, motives and awareness that accentuate the importance of reusables (Babader et al. 2016; Neill et al 2016). Producers reacting to these preferences can offer consumers more exciting packaging designs as well as packaging functionality, that allow for product personalization. The British firm Wild that produces sustainable deodorants, gives consumers the opportunity to personalize the reusable deodorant case (Wild 2021). With countless successful brand personalization cases, it could be conceivable that for firms like Procter and Gamble who recently launched their first refillable products (Procter & Gamble 2021) for Head & Shoulder, Pantene, Herbal Essence and Aussi, a likely next step would be to personalize the refillable containers. The consumer associates sustainability with the brand using returnable packaging (Neill et al. 2016), thus potentially fostering customer brand loyalty (Coelho et al. 2020). With growing brand sensitivity, these add-ons can be the swinging factor in the buying decisions making process of consumers.

For the producers, the opportunities within reusable packaging are multifaceted. It can provide an opportunity to obtain new customer segments through the forming of emotional bonds between consumer and the product or packaging. Coca-Cola Brazil standardized its glass bottle packaging for all its soda brands (Coca-Cola 2020). Its universal bottle design lowers carbon emissions, as well as

decreasing the washing, filling and costs of reverse logistics. This model replaced 200 million singleuse bottles per year in Brazil and has proven to be Coca-Cola's fastest growing packaging format across Latin American 2018 (Ellen McArthur Foundation 2017). Moreover, the low-cost for refills or reusable systems as well as cost savings generated through the simplified monitoring of flows and stocks of packaging means that research and development can be placed into innovative and creatives means of product customization (Kantar World Panel 2017).

2.6 Packaging as means of branding

Before looking at packaging as a means of branding, it is important for the scope of this paper to define the coverage of product packaging. According to the Cambridge dictionary, packaging is "material used for wrapping or covering goods to protect them" (Cambridge 2021). A label is "a piece of paper or other material that gives you information about the object it is attached to" (Cambridge 2021). Packaging also refers to the process of design (the design of the material wrapping the product), whereas package labeling is any graphic or written communication on the packaging but on a separate label. Packaging thus includes labels, but labels do not include packaging. This distinction is important to keep in mind, as this research will focus on (a)typical labels and consumer responses to the latter.

The product itself is an in-store marketing instrument and with it the product's packaging (including its label). Alongside the technical functions of a products' packaging, such as offering protection to the content and facilitating distribution, the product packaging is a key tool for communicating a brand's image and product attributes (Becker et al. 2011; Celhay et al. 2015). The previously important role of a salesperson has been replaced with packaging (e.g., Schoormans and Robben 1996). With consumers increasingly making food purchases once in front of the supermarket shelves, product packaging has only increased in its importance (Court et al. 2009). With shelve product offering doubling in the past decades (Cross 2000), consumer decisions are increasingly based on "fast and frugal" packaging processing rather than systematic or critical product evaluation (Dijksterhuis et al. 2005; Grunert 2005). In return, marketers have been using packaging materials, shape and colors to influence consumer purchasing decisions (Piqueras-Fiszman et al. 2013; Silayoi & Speece 2007). Examples include Procter and Gamble's Pringles potato chips packaged in a tube instead of a bag or Toblerone's triangle-shaped chocolate bar. An atypical packaging shape has been proven to positively contribute to the processing of a consumer of a product's information as well as the recalling of the product claim (van Ooijen et al. 2015). A packaging characteristic that

contrasts with that of other packagings in the same environment are more likely to attract consumers' attention (Schoormans 1996). A novel stimulus such a packaging shape succeeds in interrupting a consumer's shopping routine and seizes their attention, this being key for fast-moving consumer products (Garber 1995). Product packaging is also used as a way to induce novelty and it has also been proven that vivid information provokes imagery (McGill et al. 1989), thus also maintaining consumer attention. It is also believed that this stimulation of imagery is related to the way that information contributes and improves imagination and the visualization process of the consumer (McGill et al. 1989). Schema incongruity theory posits that deviation from consumer expectation can draw attention, thus leading to more positive responses (Mandler 1982) as well as benefitting from differentiation manifested in superior market performance (Talke et al. 2017). Incongruity research however also shows that deviation from established perceptions can cause confusion and lead to unfavorable effects as they cannot be successfully accommodated within existing cognitive structures (Halkias et al. 2014). Consequently, if novel packaging shape induces consumer interest, what happens when packaging shape is standardized and how do consumers react to it? There is a lack of research into how innovative branding labelling practices within standardized multiple-use packaging (wherein the packaging shape is the same) influences consumer preferences and thus also harm or benefit a brand. From a practical point of view, marketers and branders alike need to be aware of the effect that label branding design practices have on multiple-use standardized packaging in order to adapt package design to varying needs. The present research tries to empirically address this matter by exploring the relative influence of moderate atypical and typical labelling branding on standardized glass multiple-use packaging. The findings contribute to research on typical or atypical product label design by emphasizing the importance of branding as a package element that may contribute to a brand's potential success or failure within standardized glass packaging.

2.7 Packaging labelling as a means of branding

Packaging design as has been discussed as the first prompt that consumers see when they interact with a product (Orth and Malkewitz 2008) and it can influence a consumer's willingness to pay (Bloch et al. 2003). Orth and Malkewitz (2008) also demonstrate the impact that bottle design and wine labels have on consumer's assessment of a brand's personality and on consumers' willing to buy. With this in mind, product labels are an important attribute that can influence a consumer's response (Boudreaux and Palmer 2007), and marketers devote time and energy to design attention grabbing labels that appeal to consumers and disrupt their purchasing routines. Research into packaging tends to focus on packaging as a whole, encompassing the outer packaging as well as (but not specifically) the label (e.g. Garaus et al. 2019; Schoormans et al. 1997). As the packaging under observation is that of standardised glass packaging, the label designs that will be discussed will be solely referring to their placement on glass packaging. Due to difficulties of printing on a glass bottle, the label is an integral part of bottle container packaging. Labels represents a medium of visual communication which allows customers to get all the necessary information on the product, i.e. the information that encourages them to purchase. Since it is a product placed on shelves in stores, it is reasonable to assume that the manufacturer can communicate with the customer through the visual display of the label. Few studies purely focus on labels as a facet of packaging and their effects on consumers. One product sector that does focus on the impact of label design on consumers is that of wine.

In the wine market, label designs are very important to the decision-making process, especially for occasional wine drinker, who have been shown to depend heavily on the information on the labels (Boudreaux and Palmer 2007). Wine label designs are at their most general level described as either "traditional" or "modern/contemporary" (Boudreaux and Palmer 2007) which could also be seen as either typical or atypical. The case study of wine will thus be taken as an exemplary product category to be considered, given in part due to the number of studies on wine label design. When looking at consumer goods, I will argue that contrary to other FMCG, wine is a hedonic rather than utilitarian product. Broadly speaking, wine is of occasional consumption and associated with fun, pleasures, thus more linked to a hedonic nature than other FMCG like toiletries or snacks, that are more utilitarian and practical in their nature. The second reason for looking at wine bottle labels and their effect on consumer preference is due to the fact that this study focuses on standardised glass packaging, and wine bottles are rather uniform in their nature (Fig. 3). Thus, looking at the effects of wine labels on consumers is an appropriate area for this study.



FIGURE 3. WINE SHELF AT SPAR SUPERMARKET, VIENNA, AUSTRIA Source: Photograph taken by the author

The studies that will be looked at shed a light on the effects that atypical labels, labels with brand personality and fun labels have on consumer interest and purchase intent. The papers are relevant to the experiment that was carried out in this paper, as they show that just because a certain type of label design favours the product category of wine, it doesn't mean that the findings can be applied or are applicable to other product categories.

Consumer response to atypical wine label design:

Celhay and Passebois (2011) looked at wine labelling in France and identified that the visual codes used in this sector were very similar and almost repetitive. In this crowded product landscape with over 1.000 different red wine types alone sold at Carrefour (Carrefour 2021), product differentiation through novel stimulus should be highly relevant. When looking at Bordeaux wine, Orth and Malkewitz (2008) determined that most labels used similar colour pallets (pale yellow and white for the background and gold, burgundy, black for the texts and borders). Furthermore, they noticed

that the typography and layout was similar. The fonts used followed uniform typographies (cursive lettering or serifed capitals) and the layout was mostly centred in its alignment. Moreover, the illustrations used mostly ranged from vineyard to château depictions set within old or artisanal filters. Overall muted colours with centred artisanal etchings were favoured to bright, modern, left or right lined photographs or digital images.

The preference for these visual inclinations can be traced back to multiple facets. Firstly, due to the product's traditional characteristic and its associations with social class representation (Divard and Urien 2001). The use of cursive typography also links to sophistication and the handwriting recalls more traditional customs and tranquility. Looking at the use of colors, white being associated with purity and red with vitality, as well as red corresponding to the product's color, thus also related to the product color category's norm (Celhay and Passebois 2011). Garaus and Halkias (2019) discovered similar findings in the field of orange juice, whereby a typical color - in this case orange - proved to instill higher consumer interest than an atypical color – in their case blue. Thus, choosing colors that conform to a products category seems to be a finding that can be applied beyond the product field of wine. This line of thought would suggest that the greater the product family resemblance, the more a product is seen as typical of its category. And as visual codes within a product category are defined by those that are most common within that category, it would mean that packaging that adheres to visual codes of a product family is more likely to be perceived as typical (Celhay and Passebois 2011).

The authors Celhay and Passebois (2011) hypothesized and proved that the consumer's aesthetic appreciation of a wine label has a positive and linear correlation to the degree of perceive label design typicality. They also hypothesized and proved that there was a positive and linear correlation between the purchase intent relative to a wine brand and its aesthetic appreciation of the said wine label. If aesthetic appreciation is a mediating variable between perceived typicality and purchase intent, why is it that French merchants do not introduce moderate novelty into their packaging design in order to differentiate themselves from their competitors? Or, if consumers prefer traditional labels, to what degree is it possible to introduce novelty in order to differentiate oneself from competitors without negatively affecting consumer preference? Through their research, the authors Celhay and Passebois (2011) saw the consumer acceptance of atypical label design was linked to the level of perceived risk at the moment of purchase. A wine brand that targets consumption occasions, perceived as mildly risky, will therefore be able to moderately alter its visual codes within its product category. In their experiment the authors provided four Bordeaux wine labels all with

the same information but with different designs and tested these on 166 individuals. The respondents assessed the design of the labels in terms of perceived typicality and aesthetic preference. Respondents were then asked to state – given a choice of five different consumption occasions what their purchase intentions would be for each label within the occasions. The results showed a clear preference for the most typical label. However, the consumer preference decreases when the perceived risk linked to the consumption occasion also decreases. Thus, for the consumption occasions seen as less risky, the respondents seemed more willing to choose labels with a moderately atypical design (Celhay and Passebois 2011).

Having said that, at the end of the questionnaire respondents were asked to make an absolute choice of one wine for each consumption scenario and the results gathered indicated that the most typical label design was preferred. Thus, in situations that are perceived as risky, consumers will select the label design they perceive a most typical, even if their find another label more aesthetically pleasing (Celhay and Passebois 2011). The results obtained show that deviations or design atypicality will be perceived as more appealing when the supposed risk is low, while it is preferable for wine merchants to opt for a typical design when the perceived risk is high. And as wine is typically seen as a high-risk & utilitarian product by consumers, typical labels will fare better from a consumer preference standpoint.

Consumer response to fun wine label design:

Though Celhay and Passebois's (2011) research finds that typical wine label designs fare better with consumers, certain atypical wines labels using humour have not only increase in their shelf appearances but have also proved in some cases to generate increased sales. An example of this being the wine brand "Fat Bastard" which has become the largest-selling French Chardonnay within six years of being on the US market (Pfanner 2006). Other examples of fun wine labels include the German wine producer Emil Bauer & Söhne or the French wine "The Arrogant Frog". Lunardo and Rickard (2019) look at the extent to which humour in wine label design can positively influence consumer preference and willingness to pay (WTP). Using humour in label design stems from research that indicates that elements that are humorous in nature can trigger positive responses in consumers such as attention (Cowan and Little 2013), purchase intention (Scott et al. 1990) and positive affect (Weinberger and Gulas 1992). Furthermore, feeling-orientated product categories (such as clothing or scents) or low-involvement products (such as most FMCG) see the use of humorous elements redirect consumer attention from product claims and arguments, and make them more susceptible to being convinced of influences (Festinger and Maccoby 1964). As Celhay and Passebois (2011) suggested, when consumers perceive a high level of risk linked to a product, typical label designs lead to increased consumer preference than moderately incongruent label designs. This infers that the integration of fun elements into wine labels could negatively affect consumer behaviour, though atypicality is not the exact same thing as fun (Lunardo and Rickard 2019). Since fun elements in label design can be perceived as incongruent or atypical, consumers more prone to risks will react more positively to fun elements. Thus, the more typical a product is perceived to be by consumers, the more consumers can appreciate its aesthetic and prompt consumers' WTP. In their online experiment, Lunardo and Rickard (2019) looked at 271 US respondents and looked at the effects of fun elements on WTP and purchase intentions. The findings demonstrated that when consumers were faced with wine label designs that incorporate high level of fun elements, consumers were more hesitant toward the labels and the perceived wine quality decreased, which lead to a lower WTP and purchase intentions. It has to be mentioned however, that consumers with a higher risk propensity reacted more positively to a fun label, whereas consumers with a low risk propensity, reacted negatively to fun wine labels. The findings of Lunardo and Rickard (2019) similarly to those of Celhay and Passebois's (2011) indicate that wine consumers prefer typical label designs (depending on their risk propensity). Thus, marketers and branders alike should be aware of their customer segment and target group, and their individual risk propensity, before designing a wine label.

Consumer response to wine label design implementing brand personality:

Boudreaux and Palmer (2007) undertook a research to examine the effects of brand personality on purchase intention and the impact that three design elements (imagery, layout and colour) placed on wine labels have on brand personality. Brand personality is seen as "the set of human characteristics associated with a brand" (Aaker 1997, p.347) and has been shown to build emotional connections to the brand (Biel 1993), influence consumer usage and preference (Sirgy 1982), and create loyalty and trust among consumers (Fournier 1994). Furthermore, it also indicates how consumers interpret and react to changes in product quality (Aaker et al. 2004). As the manipulated stimulus in this paper's experiment uses anthropomorphism in its design to display atypicality, the findings of Boudreaux and Palmer (2007) on the effects of brand personality on consumers was of particular interest and relevance. Though similar at first glance, there are differences between the two constructs. Brand anthropomorphism refers to the extent to which consumers perceive branded products as actual human beings. Brand personality conversely refers to the metaphoric reasoning that consumers undergo to describe how they see brands and products (Caprara et al.

2001). Using Aaker (1997) five primary dimensions of human brand personality – sincerity, excitement, competence, sophistication and ruggedness – as a general framework for the online experiment, the researchers looked at how respondents made brand personality judgements and rated their purchase intention by assessing label designs different in colour, illustration and layout. Brand personality's perception is most often an unconscious process similar to the perception of human personalities, through which people would draw conclusions based on minor or incomplete evidence (Boudreaux and Palmer 2007). Therefore, the perception of a brand personality is affected by biases on stereotypes that preexist in a given consumer's environment and thus also consistent with his or her culture. In Boudreaux and Palmer's (2007) experiment, respondents were shown 15 brand personality facets in random order on a five-point Likert scale. Overall 90 fictive label designs were presented with three layouts, six color and five illustration of varying combinations. The illustrations ranged from traditional (grapes, coats of arms, chateaux and vineyards) to atypical (unusual animals). The colors varied from traditional burgundy, navy to more modern colors such as wasabi green and pink. The layouts varied from typical designs with solid white or colored backgrounds, to more modern designs including half unprinted half solid colored backgrounds. Respondents were presented the labels individually per pages and were asked to indicate (using a 7-point Likert scale) whether they would buy the wine, whether they liked the label, what the price of the wine would be (from a given range of prices) and how appropriate the ten brand personality facets described the wine label. The least desirable images were the unusual animals, and the most desirable images were the grape motifs. The lowest rated color was pink, and the highest rated and most desirable colors were those from warm palettes (burgundy, red-orange and neutrals). These were also seen as the most expensive, though the brighter palettes (wasabi green) were seen as imaginative and exciting.

Though color preferences do vary according to traditions, cultures, trends and contexts and thus must also be taken into account. In terms of layout, overall the traditional layout fared better in terms of consumer preference over the modern layout, and also in terms of perceived value, purchase intent and perceived success. Brand personality explained about half of the variances in consumer purchase intent with the facets of charming, spirited, successful and up-to-date having the strongest correlation to consumer purchase intent. Between layout, color and illustration, the latter had the greatest impact on both perceptions of brand personality and purchase intent. Overall, the use of conservative or typical illustration, layouts and colors fared better in the experiment, however in terms of brand personality, wine labels aimed for consumers at casual gatherings would

benefit from images that ranked high on ruggedness and excitement, but neutral on sophistication (such as an illustration of a bull). Conversely, a high-priced wine aimed at special occasions would fare better when emphasizing sophistication and excitement and less ruggedness with images of grapes of vineyards. The findings of Boudreaux and Palmer (2007) are broadly speaking in keeping with the findings of Lunardo and Rickard (2019) and to those of Celhay and Passebois's (2011) showing that wine consumers generally will rather opt typical or moderately atypical designs depending on the consumption occasion and consumer risk propensity. Wine as a research product, is often marketed and discussed in the similar way as coffees, olive oils, vinegars and premium chocolates (Boudreaux and Palmer 2007). Thus, it could be that above findings of wines are also applicable to other product categories such as pickled pickles.

3 CONCEPTUAL FRAMEWORK

The Fast-Moving Consumer Goods (FMCG) market, also known as consumer-packaged goods (CPG), is known to include products that are sold quickly and positioned within a lower price point. This market includes products such as beverages, toiletries, cosmetics, packaged foods, among other consumables. From a consumer point of view, these products are bought frequently, thus resulting in a short shelf life. They have a rapid consumption and low engagement, meaning that little effort is gone into choosing the product. The FMCG's market is a key market segment for Europe with a forecasted growth of USD 17.15 billion from 2021-2025 and a market growth momentum also forecasted to speed up during this forecasted period (Technavio 2021). Irrespective of a population or size, the marketing of FMCG plays a crucial part in the advancement of a country economic progress along with the country's overall advancement (Sarangapani et al. 2008). Due to its growth and potential, it is a market segment that is highly competitive and crowded. Operating on low margins, the success within this dynamic and innovating market depends on knowing your customers behaviour and how best to promote your product within its environment. Over the years, marketing and branding strategies have been launched in order to obtain a greater consumer market share. In order to convince consumers to choose a FMCG over another, the consumer behaviour needs to be understood and implemented within strategies. Consumer behaviour studies the process by which consumers buy, use and dispose of products and services as well as the consumers' emotional behavioural and mental response to the latter. Understanding a consumers' impulse and influences is key to a successful branding or marketing campaign. It also lets marketers know how to present and advertise their products as well as how to generate the maximum impact on the consumer in order to convince them into buying a product over that of a competitor product. The marketing research firm Omniconvert (Radu 2021) identified four main types of consumer behaviours that are influences by either personal (demography, gender, culture, age etc.), psychological (perceptions and attitudes) or social factors (income, family, friends, education level, etc.). The four main types of consumer behaviour are the following (Radu 2021):

- 1. **Complex buying behaviour**: this is an infrequent purchase usually found within a higher price-point. Due to the nature of the price segment, a consumer is more likely to spend time researching the product and making an informed decision that will legitimise the high-value investment. An example of such a purchase could be a property or a car.
- 2. **Dissonance-reducing buying behaviour**: this sees the consumer struggle with making a purchasing decision based on a high number of brand choice and also the price point of the

item. Moreover, it is an item purchased on an irregular basis, therefore increase a consumer's fear of regretting his or her decision. An example of such a product would be a computer or television.

- 3. Habitual buying behaviour: this sees a consumer choose a product type over a product brand. In this case the consumer sees little involvement in the brand category. An example of such a product is fruit. Here a consumer purchases grapes or bananas, irrespective of the brand.
- 4. Variety seeking buying behaviour: this sees a consumer explicitly try a new product to seek variety rather than out of displeasure with its previous purchase. An example of such products can be found in cosmetics or cleaning products.



FIGURE 4. CONSUMER BUYING BEHAVIOR MODEL Source: Radu 2021

According to the above model (Fig. 4) and findings, FMCG products falls under low involvement and minor differences between brands, meaning that they move between variety and habitual consumer behaviours. With about two-thirds of all supermarket purchases being made once consumers are in front of the shelves and with about 39% of purchase decisions being unplanned and potentially influenced by in-store marketing stimuli (Weinberg et al. 1982), finding the appropriate marketing mix is key to influencing consumer behaviours and leading consumers to alter their purchase habits. Within the FMCG segment the following theories allow for an in-depth look at con-

sumer decisions and preferences: shema incongruity theory, Heuristics, categorisation theory, deviation or atypicality and anthropomorphism. These are theories and models that will be looked at in more details and that were based on the research of Garaus and Halkias (2019). They form part of this paper's conceptual framework, through which's lens the experiment will be hypothesised and analysed.

3.1 Heuristics

Researchers have looked at consumer behaviors from multiples viewpoints, be it from a consumer's processing ability, as function of both situational constraints or individual differences, to motivations for consumer effort expenditure and effort reduction (Mandrik 1996). A shared thought that runs through consumer behavior research is that consumers strive to find a balance between wanting to accurately identify something vis-à-vis wanting to use minimal effort to do so. A way that consumers achieve this balance is by applying cognitive heuristics to ease their decision-making process, and to minimize the effort that goes into selecting an item, all the whilst ensuring that their judgement is correct (Mandrik 1996). Heuristics sees the brain make mental shortcuts that in turn let consumers solve problems and make efficient and quick judgements. Though heuristics can also lead to cognitive biases, wherein a consumer's behavior is influenced by the processing and interpreting of the information around them (such as being influenced by a memory). Coined by the Nobel-prize winning cognitive psychologist and economist Herbert Simon, the concept of heuristics was originally conceived to show that despite humans aiming to make rational decisions, their judgement is subject to cognitive limitation (Rachlin 2003). Numerous marketing research platforms (e.g. Secore 2021; Paleo Foundation 2021) have looked at the key components in heuristics that are key for marketers to grasp in order to best understand their consumers behavior and launch successful marketing and branding campaigns. Psychologists have developed different theories as to why humans rely on heurists (Cherry 2021):

- 1. Effort reduction sees humans use heuristics as a form of cognitive laziness in order to reduce the mental effort needed to make decisions and choices.
- 2. **Fast and Frugal** sees humans use heuristics in situations in order to expedite and ascertain decisions.
- **3.** Attribute substitution sees humans switch complex questions with related simpler formulations.

Especially relevant for the FMCG sector wherein consumers are confronted with copious information, they are keen to hasten their decision-making process. The human brain looks back at these mental strategies to clarify and simplify things and increasingly make decisions based on "fast and frugal" packaging processing rather than systematic or critical product evaluation (Dijksterhuis et al. 2005; Grunert 2005). There are different types of heuristics that play individual roles within different contexts. For marketers it is important to understand these different types and to know when which are being used.

Availability heuristic is a mental shortcut that sees humans rely on immediate examples that come to their minds when assessing a specific decision or topic (Cherry 2021). An example of availability heuristics in marketing campaigns sees examples being given of product results in order for consumers to better imagine the effect that the product will have on them if they choose to use it (i.e. in gym or protein shake advertisements).

Representative heuristics see humans approximate the likelihood of an event, product or person by comparing it to an existing prototype that is already present in their minds (Cherry 2021). In doing so, humans will for example assess a product trustworthiness such as an ice cream, because their grandparents would give it to them as children, and thus immediately assume that it is trustworthy.

Affect heuristics is a mental shortcut that sees humans make their decisions and solve problems by being influenced by emotions, fears, pleasures etc. that they are experiencing at that moment (Cherry 2021). In marketing affect heuristics has been used in many campaigns, most notably in anti-smoking campaigns wherein the emotion of fear is used in order to create anxiety and repel the consumer from using the product.

Anchoring heuristics sees humans being influenced by the initial exposure they hear or learn and using it as a reference point for its subsequent judgement. Marketing campaigns have been using this when facing consumers with bulk price promotions (Cherry 2021). By supermarkets offering consumers multiple unit pricing (get three for the price of 2), consumers think that they are saving money, when actually they are spending more, because initially they just wanted to buy one.

Knowing that consumers apply heuristics when going grocery shopping (Reber et al. 2004) and that very small hues can influence their decision, including representative heuristics within one's packaging design, might have the effect of reminding consumers of something trustworthy, and thus leading the consumers to choose this product over another.

3.2 Consumer response to schema incongruity

Research into heuristics put forward that consumers use heuristics to streamline and expedite their decision-making process. A specific heuristic technique is that of schemata, a technique used to

encode and recover memories that are used in typical situations where little effort is needed to process a decision. Consumers used schemata to quickly and efficiently organize new observations into schemata and act without much effort (Kleider et al. 2008). Consisting of preferences, heuristics aid consumers decide in situation where they do have adequate information or do not care enough about the given product or make an informed decision. While a schema consists of a workflow or acts as a storyboard that tell consumers what to do in a repeated situation. A practical example would see a consumer use heuristic when purchasing a cleaning product and opt for a specific brand 'Persil' because it is the first one that comes to his or her mind. Schema, on the other hand, works with preconceived notions based on memories, meaning that before going to a party, the person has a preconceived idea of what will happen i.e. music, balloons, etc. Schemas is driven by a memory and leads to a predefined conclusion, whereas Heuristics are automatic decisions made through mental shortcuts to speed up decision making. Schema Theory in cognitive psychology puts forward that people will tend to simplify what they see around them by organizing and storing their available knowledge and experiences about their social environment in memory-based cognitive structures, otherwise known as schemata (Fiske and Taylor 1984). Moreover, Schemas provide consumers with general expectations that guide the processing of specific data or products (Fiske and Taylor 1984). Seeing as schemata influence a consumer's absorption of knowledge, it influences their attentions and thus consumes are more likely to see things that fit into their schema. Moreover, according to schema-theory, consumers will apply the accumulate knowledge they have gathered about the respective schema whenever they encounter a new schema.

Congruity theory examines how consistency or inconsistency of expectations affects a person's response, including information processing and evaluation. When consumers face new information that is congruent with their prior knowledge, they can easily absorb the information. However, if the information is incongruent, it will challenge their prior knowledge and thus, cause extra cognitive processing (Hastie 1980). For example, if a consumer has only been faced with chips in bags and goes to the grocery store and finds chips in bags, his or her expectations will be confirmed, and the instance will result in cognitive processing. When the said consumer however goes to the grocery store and finds Pringles (chips in a tube), the consumer will have to rethink his concept that all chips come in bags. Incongruity is often seen from the point of view of schema theory (Fiske & Taylor 1984). Thus, marketing researchers have used the term schema incongruity to refer to informations that are not in line with prior expectations. When schema and congruity theory are com-
bined, it results in a hybrid model known as schema-congruity or schema-incongruity theory (Peracchio and Tybout 1996). With its roots in psychology, the first schema congruity studies focused on person memory. Hastie (1980) conducted a study where subjects were asked to assimilate the initial impression of a person (i.e. honest, trustworthy, intelligent, friendly, etc.) with moments of behavior that were either incongruent or congruent with their initial impression of that person. Incongruent impressions proved to be more memorable, because, in order to understand the unusual behavior, the subjects had to recover additional information from long-term memory, therefore forming more elaborate associative networks. For products or foods however, Perrachio and Tybout (1996) proved more moderate results. There are different levels of incongruences i.e. low, moderate and high. Looking at schemas within products and foods, Peracchio and Tybout (1996) discovered that moderate incongruity proved to elicit a more positive product evaluation from consumers when their prior knowledge was low. They lead an experiment wherein subject's knowledge of dessert category was under observation and found that the level of knowledge influenced the subject's attitude toward a new dessert which was either congruent to a high calorie dessert, moderately incongruent to a spicy cake and incongruent to a spicy dessert. Subjects who had little knowledge of the product category rated moderately incongruent products more favorably, than incongruent or congruent products, while subjects with deep knowledge of the product category rated incongruent products more favorably. Peracchio and Tybout (1996) therefore theorized that consumers with little product knowledge will take the time to solve moderate incongruity, leading to a positive effect. Consumers with a greater product knowledge can resolve even extreme incongruity without much effort, thus their affective reaction to moderate incongruity will be the same to their response to incongruent information. This line of thought however does not match the studies found in wine labels wherein product knowledge favors negatively to stronger incongruity. However, the research is applicable to FMCG wherein product knowledge is low, and a moderate incongruent schema could favor positively toward consumer interest. Research shows that consumers' knowledge about the market can be viewed through relevant cognitive structures, such as the product, the brand or the ad schemata. Schemata theory has therefore been applied to the field of marketing research, showing that schematic knowledge considerably affects how consumers process and respond to marketing messages (Goodstein 1993). In highly crowded and competitive environments such as the FMCG market, consumers use their schemata to merge incoming with existing data, recover information from memory, draw inferences and simplify their purchasing decisions (Sujan and Bettman 1989). Thus, the degree of incongruity is dependent on the consumers' prior knowledge

and how irrelevant and unexpected the information are, and how easily the consumer can satisfactorily reconcile the discrepancies within their existing cognitive structure (Mandler 1982). Similar to Peracchio and Tybout (1996) in his research Mandler (1982) also finds that moderate degrees of incongruity are more positively evaluated by consumers than complete congruity or extreme incongruity. By a process of assimilation and taking in the information, moderate incongruity can be resolved, which is then positively evaluated by the consumer. With extreme incongruity, consumers attempt to accommodate the incongruent information which usually leads to negative affect. Mandler's (1982) view on schema (in)congruity theory is that humans process new information based on their experienced expectations of schemas. Consumers thus process information that are congruent to schema as more familiar and therefore in an easier way, thus leading to a positive evaluation. Incongruity however, if unfamiliar and not solved is processed negatively. Conversely, if solved, incongruity results positively. Thus, markets using incongruity schema need to ensure that the level of incongruity is solvable by consumers. As we have seen from wine labelling, incongruent labels faire worse than congruent labels as they prove extreme incongruence. However, according to Mandler's schema incongruity theory, it can, if resolved, lead to positive evaluation, thus in our experiment we face respondents with (in)congruent or (a)typical labels to uncover whether within the given product categories other than wine, moderate incongruent schema or atypicality will positively influence consumer preference and interest.

3.3 Consumer response to deviation and atypicality

In addition to the effect that degrees of schema incongruity have on consumer interest and preferences, researchers Schoormans & Robben (1996) and Garber (1995) look at how deviations and atypicality in stimuli appearance affect consumer interest. Looking at the effects of degrees of packaging design deviation of a well-known Dutch ground coffee brand on consumer's attention, Schoormans & Robben (1996) found that there is a positive relation between the consumer attention on a package and the degree of deviation from its appearance. Attention is understood as the momentary focusing of information processing capacity on a given stimulus. (Schoormans and Robben 1996). Within packaging design, the stimuli that form packaging characteristics are among other shape, color, size, label etc. that would direct a consumer toward a product. The ability of a stimulus to attract attention is a prerequisite for information processing (Schoormans and Robben 1996). The consumer attention rises with the package's deviation in a linear manner, however, consumer evaluation starts to decrease. This means that whilst the attention increases with the rate of deviation, a consumer product evaluation will decrease when the degree of deviation increases. Their findings suggested that when redesigning a product appearance, marketers should be aware of the trade-off between the increased consumer attention and the decrease of product evaluation based on the degree of deviation. As a result, atypical packaging will increase the chances that a consumer will change their current behavioral routines at the point of purchase, but not if the product atypicality is extremely different to other products within is product category as then the product is evaluated less positively. The researchers argued that the reason for this might be because the consumers can no longer categorize the product to a specific product category, when deviation from its prototype is too extreme.

Garber (1995) put forward that atypical packaging designs are more likely to draw attention enabling the product to become part of the consumer's consideration, which is especially important in the FMCG sector where food products fall in highly competitive categories with multiple alternatives. There are some stimuli which's characteristics are absolute in their impact on individuals such as the attention that a loud sounds or noise has; certain stimuli are often understood within their context. According to Garber (1995), stimuli that contrast with the other stimuli in their environment are more likely to attract the attention of the consumers. It is exactly this notion of perceived **novelty** within a stimulus such as packaging shape or atypical label design or in-store communication that success in distracting consumers from their shopping patterns (Garber 1995).

Much in the same way of Mandler's schema incongruity model and Peracchio and Tybout (1996) findings, both Garber (1995) and Schoormans & Robben (1996) put forward that atypicality, novelty and moderate deviation have a positive effect and on consumer interest and consumer product purchase that follow from increased attention. Thus, a consumer would be more likely to select a product over another, with an atypical packaging design that moderately stands out from its product category, and that being that tipping scale that makes the consumer choose that product.

3.4 Product categorization theory

Deviation is an established stimulus to attract attention, and deviations in a stimulus' appearance affects the way in which consumers categorize the said stimulus (Schoormans and Robben 1996). The process of categorization is identified by psychological literature as a fundamental cognitive activity and proposes that individuals tend to naturally rely on cognitive categories as a basis for predictions and inductive inferences (Fiske 1991). Categorization is understood as the process by which humans respond to new and varied information in their environment (Schoormans and Robben 1996). Schemas themselves can also include category elements, such as attributes of a category, prototypes of a category, and attitude toward the category (Goodstein 1993). Categorization theory puts forward that humans will group objects and events based on perceived similarity and resemblances, which results in information being stored in categories (Schoormans and Robben 1996). According to Bloch (1995) and Gestalt psychologists (Wertheimer 1925), "packaging design" is defined as the multiple elements selected and blended into a holistic design to achieve a designated sensory effect (Orth and Malkewitz 2008), this being one of the most important cues of product category activation. Product categorization is successfully enabled through different package designs that enable consumers to identify prototypes and norms, thus providing perceptual inputs (Schoormans and Robben 1997). Within product packaging research, the focus lies primarily on how (a)typical, novel, or hybrid packaging shapes can influence product categorization and how the latter affects consumers' adoption and evaluation of new products (Orth 2012). Schoormans and Robben (1996) state that categorization of new knowledge improves the efficiency of information processing and cognitive stability. Moreover, they argue that categorization knowledge "allows us to identify novel items or events, respond to them in terms of class membership rather than their often irrelevant uniqueness, draw inferences about features, and make causal or evaluative judgments." (Schoormans and Robben 1996, p.6), thus making this theory highly relevant for consumer responses to new products, especially within FMCG. Within categorization theory, the more typical a stimulus is, the quicker consumers respond to the question of which category it belongs to (Snelders et al. 1999). Likewise, consumer interest and curiosity in new packaging design has been shown in research and the shift in elements of visual design, such as label style are an especially appropriate way to influence consumer preference and purchasing intent (Snelders et al. 1999). The integration of new and old informations is guided by categorical structures. This in turn enables inference making which helps individuals evaluate and judge the nature of new stimulus objects (Lajos et al. 2009). When interacting with market environments, consumers learn to organize, collect and inevitably utilize market environments on the basis of existing product categories (Lajos et al. 2009). This leading to the consumer drawing conclusions and expectations about product features, functions, performances, thus in turn influencing the consumers' thoughts, emotions and attitude towards these products (Sujan et al. 1989). Furthermore, as discussed, Garber (1995) emphasizes the effect that product appearance has on consumer attention and on product categorization. Therefore, the more typical a stimulus is, the stronger the association a consumer will have to its corresponding category, however novel stimulus pertaining to a certain product category will also elicit consumer interest and curiosity.

3.5 Consumer response to anthropomorphic packaging design

In keeping with atypicality and schema incongruity, anthropomorphism within brand labelling can be perceived in certain product categories as atypical, if the other products within this category do not use anthropomorphism. Anthropomorphism is the attribution of human like characteristics or behaviours to nonhuman agents, which enable consumers to perceive brands as having human features (Epley et al. 2007). Across the globe, marketers have long used anthropomorphism to promote products, primarily through the use of visual cues such as features resembling parts of a human body (Woodward 1999), verbal cues such as giving products human names (Waytz et al. 2014), and through brand personification (Delbaere et al. 2011., Wan 2015). Another angle is suggesting that brands possess mental capabilities (Waytz et al. 2014). It has been identified that nearly one in three brands sold to adults and more than five in six brands sold to children, utilises some form of anthropomorphic depiction in their branding (Triantos et al. 2016). Numerous researchers have suggested that anthropomorphism enhances positive brand appraisal (e.g., Aggarwal et al.2012., Chen et al. 2017.). Having said that, some scholars suggest that anthropomorphic designs have no effect on brand attitudes (Delgado-Ballester et al. 2013., Yuan et al. 2017) and some scholars even suggest that it can even lead to negative effects on brand evaluations (Han et al. 2019., Puzakova et al. 2015). Researchers looked into the mixed and ubiquitous findings of the effectiveness of anthropomorphic appeals in inciting positive product evaluations from consumers (Velasco et al. 2020). By analysing 47 papers they proved that though not absolute, the results show that in general, consumers react more positively to anthropomorphic stimuli compared to non-anthropomorphic stimuli (Velasco et al. 2020). To this end I propose that anthropomorphism - seen as an atypical packaging design feature, within a designated product category - will be effective in influencing consumers' attitude toward the product.

In support of the above conceptual frameworks, researchers have also emphasized interest as a response to novelty (Sung et al. 2016). More specifically, extant studies have explored how consumers like familiarity but find novelty interesting (Sung et al. 2016). Novel stimuli or atypical package design has also been found to increase cognitive effort needed for processing package designs (Garaus et al. 2019). In support of this concept, Ulrich (1983) highlights that the emotional response interest positively correlates with information processing effort and that atypical scenes that contrast with the habitual are likely to evoke interest. Furthermore, the psychologist Silva (2005) sees interest as an emotion that heightens a person's curiosity, motivating the person to approach novel

and complex, but not necessarily enjoyable stimuli. Seeing interest as a way to understand consumer psychology and behaviour, Silvia (2006) also perceives interest as an evolutionarily adaptive emotion that pushes individuals to develop a broad set of new information, skills and experiences. It ignites and sustains a person's engagement with their environment and is important for their survival and adaptation. In his research into curiosity, Silvia (2006) saw people favour novelty as they innately feel a sensation of interest to learn about novelty or in this case atypical packaging perceived as novelty.

Consistent with the following conceptual frameworks wherein consumers apply heuristics and are affected by small cues when going grocery shopping and that these can affect their purchasing decisions (Reber et al. 2004). Furthermore, that incongruity is more positively evaluated by consumers (Mandler 1982; Peracchio and Tybout 1996) and that atypical packaging will increase the chances that a consumer will change their current behavioural routines at the point of purchase (Schorrmans and Robben1996). In addition, that novel or atypical stimuli succeed in distracting consumers from their shopping routines (Garber 1995) and that the integration of new informations led by categorization structures, allow for inferences to take place which aid consumers to evaluate new stimuli (Lajos et al. 2009). Also, that consumers - in general - react more positively to anthropomorphic stimuli (seen as atypical within a given product category) compared to non-anthropomorphic stimuli (Velasco et al. 2020), I propose - given all the above - that:

H₁ Atypical label design, as manipulated by anthropomorphic label design, increases consumers' interest

The current research focuses on packaging as a product's means of communication rather than on its technical packaging functions. The present study will not look at the effects of packaging appearance on the intended product use (i.e. Wansink 1996). There has been considerable research into the importance of packaging design as means of influencing consumers and the impact on their purchasing decisions when scanning products (e.g. Garber et al. 2000; Schoormans et al. 1997). Among other these scholars look at the entirety of the packing design including the packaging shape. Little research focuses solely on the impact that packaging label within standardized packaging has on the consumer. Of special interest for this research is a label's moderately incongruent packaging design's ability within the strict parameters of standardized glass packaging, to positively influence consumer response. However, although extensive research has shown that package design can have a powerful impact on consumer response, it has provided only little guidance to marketers and branders in selecting package label design for standardized products. Though the wine research studies show that severe incongruency negatively impacts consumer interest and response, despite bottle designs not deviating largely in their shape. This framework has scarcely been applied to other consumer goods wherein their packaging is similar or standardized. The research gap lies in identifying to what extend atypical product design influences consumer decisions within standardized glass packaging.

Stimuli that ignite curiosity and interest are generally seen as being more intellectually challenging and linked to a higher aesthetic value (Sheinin et al. 2011). This has been exemplified in research showing that products and brand communications that challenge their category's norm increase consumer's desire to further engage with a product or message (Ang et al. 2007), this leading to increased penchant for the brand and more likely to attract consumer attention (Halkias et al. 2014; Shoormans 1997). It is within this line of thought that by presenting the consumer with an atypical packaging design in relation to its category, that it is expected that this atypical design will positively influence attitudinal responses toward the product itself. Thus, it is also predicted that:

H₂ Interest positively influences consumer's attitude toward the product

H₃ Positive product attitude increases consumer purchase intention

The below conceptual model describes the hypothesized relationship that has been developed and tested in the present research wherein perceived atypicality increases consumer interest which increases product attitude which in turn also increases purchase intention (Fig. 5).



FIGURE 5. CONCEPTUAL MODEL AND RESULTS OF EXPERIMENT 1

4 EXPERIMENT

As showed in the literature review and in keeping with Schema incongruity theory, a novel stimulus such a packaging shape succeeds in interrupting a consumer's shopping routine and seizes their attention and interest, this being key for the success of FMCG (Garber 1995). Looking at the penchant from retailers such as Spar and REWE to expand their offering of standardized multiple-use glass packaging, (currently including milk, yoghurt, certain sodas as well as the long-established product offering of beer), as well as the growing policy discussions across European countries to increase the rates of reuse, it can be inferred that standardized glass packaging might be rolled out onto further consumer goods. This meaning that within a designated product category, all product packaging shapes could be the same, thus the novel stimulus will no longer be the packaging shape but will have to encompass something other. In order to test how consumers, respond to a novel stimulus within standardized glass packaging, one factor (typical vs. atypical label design) between subjects in an online experiment was conducted. The experiment relied on a designated product category. The selection of the product category was made based on the following criteria:

- 1. Choosing a product which is currently sold in a non-standardized single-use glass container
- 2. Choosing a product where within its product category the packaging design is typical and somewhat uniform across the competing brands within the same product category
- 3. Choosing a product based on a utilitarian consumption rather than a hedonic consumption. A utilitarian consumption being that of an item wherein its purpose and function is its priority (i.e. a washing machine, medicine). Conversely a hedonic consumption refers to an item that instils emotions, pleasure and enjoyment through its use of possession (i.e. wine, perfume etc.). Pickled pickles when compared to other FMCG can be perceived as a utilitarian rather than hedonic product to be consumed

Based on the above criteria, a product within the FMCG was selected. There are two key reasons why an FMCG product was selected for this experiment: Firstly, products within the FMCG category are usually shown in cluttered environments where product competition and rivalry are in direct proximity. As consumers are increasingly relying on heuristics to make purchasing decisions, the implementation of a novel stimulus is a great way to test whether it distracts consumers in their "fast and frugal" decision making process (Dijksterhuis et al. 2005; Grunert 2005). Secondly, products within the FMCG category can have similar product packaging labelling. This being an important factor for the current experiment when testing the atypical labelling stimulus, to see whether it increases consumer interest within an environment where product uniformity is given.

These criteria lead to the selection of pickled pickles as a product category, as the product falls under the FMCG consumer buying behaviour model of a low involvement and habitual consumer behaviour. The below figure shows the uniformity of the product packaging design within the chosen product category of pickled vegetables in an Austrian supermarket (Fig. 6).



FIGURE 6. SPAR SUPERMARKET PRODUCT SHELF OFFERING WITHIN THE PICKLED VEGETABLES CATEGORY **Source: Photograph taken by the author**

As the product packaging shape is standardised, the other available stimuli would have either been the product cap or the product label. There is research indicating that a product's cap design and cap colour does influence consumer response (Chitturi et al. 2019) and can be used to grow brand loyalty; an example of this being the brand Snapple who placed real facts into the inside of the caps (Marketing Sherpa 2014).

This experiment saw the packaging label as the target stimulus under observation. Part of the packaging design, the label is the space where the manufacturer by means of graphic elements, unites branding and marketing ideas together with the legally prescribed product information in a way that psychologically reaches the consumer's consciousness and encourages interest (Solomon et al. 2006). Research shows that both typical and atypical packaging labelling affect consumer product responses (e.g. Celhay and Passebois 2011; Valdec et al. 2018). Thus, the experiment looks at moderate schema incongruity and deviation through the use of anthropomorphism as a stimulus to attract consumer interest in order to test the hypothesis. This was achieved by creating a stimulus with an atypical packaging label design vis-à-vis the other products within the same product category as a means to attract consumer attention. On the contrary, the control group relies on a typical label design. In order to measure the effectiveness of marketing campaigns or initiatives, control groups are used. In a marketing research context, a control group is a subgroup of a selected audience division that is excluded from receiving a specific campaign message during a given test period. These test groups are also known as the experiment placebo in scientific trials. Selected at random to represent the entire segment, the control group enables like for like comparison and is relative to the number of people in the given segment

4.1 Participants

A total sample of 151 consumers was recruited with in an online experiment which was to be completed individually. In the current experiment, 55% of the total respondents formed part of the control group which amounted to 83 respondents and 45% formed part of the target group which amounted to 68 respondents. The respondents consisted of 34,4% female and 64,2 and Male. The mean age of the respondents was 40,7 years and 51% of respondents had a university degree, 23% had a secondary education (Matura or Abitur) and the remaining 26% had other qualifications. The respondents were selected at random via the online platform Clickworker with a few parameters in place. The given parameters were that only German speaking respondents, preferably living in Germany and with access to a Desktop, were allowed to part-take in the online experiment within a given age range with the youngest respondent being no younger than 18 and the eldest no older than 65. The survey took 2 - 4 minutes, the respondents were paid 0,30 cents per completed survey and the results were obtained within 10 hours.

4.2 Stimulus & Procedure

The survey randomly allocated the respondents to two groups (atypical vs. typical label design). The respondents were asked to answer eight questions of which three were unrelated to the stimulus

(frequency of product purchase, age and level of education). To enhance the realism of the stimulus, not only one, but six different products were presented, with each product having two facings. The manipulated stimuli in both groups were shown in the top middle position. The pickle jar with the anthropomorphic label design (pickle with legs, arms and eyes) was used for the atypical packaging condition within the target group. A short introduction before the survey started, informed respondents on the purpose of the study, namely, interested in the personal opinion regarding the assessment of products. After exposing respondents to the six products, the target product (either the atypical or the typical one) appeared on the next page and respondents were asked to answer questions assessing interest, attitude, choice and purchase intention. Before sending the survey to the respondents, a pre-test test was conducted with a dozen respondents. Relevant feedback was imbedded into the survey to optimize its efficacy and response rate.

The target group were shown the following stimulus material, with the product boxed in orange (this box was not visible to respondents during the survey) being the manipulated atypical stimulus (Fig. 7).



FIGURE 7. TARGET GROUP STIMULUS MATERIAL WITH ATYPICAL CONDITION

The control group were shown the following stimulus material, with the product boxed in orange (this box was not visible to respondents during the survey) being the manipulated atypical stimulus (Fig. 8).



FIGURE 8. CONTROL GROUP STIMULUS MATERIAL WITH TYPICAL CONDITION

4.3 Dependent measures

Scale items were operationalized with seven-point response escales for the variables interest, typicality, anthropomorphism, attitude and purchase intention. Drawn from existing literature and adapted to the current survey, the established scales enabled respondents to evaluate the stimulus packaging label according to the variables under observation.

The interest scale was draw from research undertaken by the psychologist Silva (2005) on appraisal structures of interest, based on theories of appraisal. According to Silva (2005), interest is poorly understood in comparison to other emotions. In his research, Silva (2005) predicts that interest consists of appraisal of novelty (factors linked to unfamiliarity and complexity) and appraisal of coping potential (ways in which to understand new and complex things). His findings on appraisal structures were supported by four experiments in which he measured and manipulated appraisals, measures of interest and interesting stimuli. Specific to interest, the appraisal perspective was an important means to construct the causes of interest.

Goedertier, Dawar, Geuens and Weiters' paper (2015) provided evidence for the typicality scale used. Firms launch new products under familiar brand names using so called extension strategies in order to increase consumer acceptance of novel products (Goedertier et al. 2015). Prototypical brands are seen as the most common in any given category of products, thus appealing for extension efforts showing strong association within their product category (Goedertier et al. 2015). Prior research on typicality with categorization theory as a starting point however, suggested that this association could hinder the extension of prototypical brands to products belonging to other or more distant product categories (Goedertier et al. 2015). In their research the authors conducted two studies that counter-intuitively showed that new extensions on brand prototypicality increased rather than decreased consumer acceptance of new extensions in "distant" as well as "close" product categories. Furthermore, using a mediation analysis, the authors showed that the underlying mechanism of the risk-reducing advantage of prototypical brands is more important than their cemented rigid categories.

The anthropomorphism scale used in this paper was supported by evidence from the paper 'When Temptations Come Alive: How Anthropomorphism Undermines Self-Control' (Hur et al. 2015). In it the researchers examine how anthropomorphizing a consumer temptation impacts them and their self-control. Across six studies, the anthropomorphizing of products exhibited a lack of self-control when tempted by products, not through an augmenting of the desire toward the product, but by decreasing the consumer's experience of conflict toward the consumption of the given product. The latter being an alarm bell signaling a need for self-control (Hur et al. 2015). The experiments resulted in consumers exhibiting less self-control and more willingness to indulge in the consumer good. Acting as another agent in the self-control dilemma, anthropomorphized products decrease the extent to which consumers link the cause of and responsibility for their product consumption to themselves.

When assessing attitude, the scale was based on the research of Holbrook and Batra (1987). In it the authors looked at developing interest in the emotional facets prevalent in consumer behavior, advocating for a broader understanding of consumption-related emotions and focusing on the role that emotions play in facilitating the effects of advertising (Holbrook et al. 1987). Looking specifically at advertisements and brands, the authors proposed an approach to examine the ways in which intervening emotional reactions facilitate the link between advertising content and attitude towards the brand or ad (Holbrook et al. 1987).

The purchase intention scale was draw from the paper 'Culture, product type, and price influences on consumer purchase intention to buy personalized products online' (Moon et al. 2006). In it the authors tested three hypotheses: the first being the intention to purchase personalized product will be affected by power distance, individualism, uncertainty avoidance and masculinity dimensions of a national culture. The second hypothesis tested that consumers would be more likely to buy personalized search products than experience products. The third and final hypothesis looked at purchase intention of a personalized product and that it would not be influenced by price premiums up to a certain level. The results gathered showed that individualism is the only culture dimension to have a considerable effect on purchase intention. Individualism and product type by price interaction also showed to have a significant influence, while price did not.

4.4 Preliminary Data Analysis

4.4.1 Reliability analysis

Cronbach's alpha was used as a measure of internal consistency to indicate how closely related the questions asked in the survey were to the variables under observation. This measure of scale reliability ensured that the questions asked best reflected the typicality, anthropomorphism, attitude, interest and purchase intention. The coefficient of reliability (or consistency) of the four variables listed prior obtained a "good" or "excellent" value (see Table 2). Cronbach's alpha can be written as a function of the number of test items and the average inter-correlation among those items (Field 2009). Cronbach's alpha will be low if the average inter-item correlation is low. Cronbach's alpha increases as the average inter-item correlation is low. Cronbach's alpha increases as the average inter-item correlation is swhen holding the number of items constant (Ta ble 2).

Cronbach's alpha	Internal consistency	
a ≥ 0.9	Excellent	
0.9 > a ≥ 0.8	Good	
0.8 > a ≥ 0.7	Acceptable	
0.7 > a ≥ 0.6	Questionable	
0.6 > a ≥ 0.5	Poor	
0.5 > a	Unacceptable	

TABLE 2. CORNBACH'S ALPHA

Source: Field, A. (2009). 'Discovering statistics using SPSS.' Sage Publications, London.

Cronbach's alpha was performed on anthropomorphism, typicality, attitude, interest and purchase intention. The results the constructs and variables are shown in Table 3.

	Cronbach's
Survey questions (adapted to the survey context from original scales)	alpha
ANTHROPOMORPHISM	
To what extent does the design of the label remind you of human-like charac-	
teristics?	n/a
TYPICALITY	
How do you rate the product label?	
This label is a good example of pickles.	0 874
This is a representative label for pickles.	0.074
This is a typical label for pickles.	
ATTITUDE	
What is your general opinion of the product shown previously?	
Unfavourable/Unfavourable	
I do not like / I like	0.959
Negative/Positive	
Bad/Good	
INTEREST	
Please indicate the extent to which you agree with the following statements.	
I find this product interesting.	0.928
This product makes me curious.	0.528
I am interested in this product.	
PURCHASE INTENTION	
I would buy this product.	
If I had a choice, I would choose this product.	0.952
There is a high probability that I would buy this product.	

TABLE 3. RESULTS OF RELIABILITY ANALYSIS

4.4.2 Manipulation checks

4.4.2.1 Typicality

The first manipulation check under observation was that of typicality. An univariant analysis of variance (ANOVA) was used to compare the typicality perceptions in both groups. The findings show that the mean values for perceived typicality are significant at 0.05 level (one-tailed test) of significance with the group variable at [F(1, 1) = 3.17, p= 0.036]. Comparing the mean of the Typical vs. the atypical group shows the typical group with 4.14 and the atypical group with 3.70. Thus, though the atypical group who was shown the atypical label, perceives the label as less typical for the product category, the difference between the atypical and typical group is only 0.44 which is a small, though significant, difference. This means that manipulated anthropomorphized pickle label is perceived as more atypical.

4.4.2.2 Anthropomorphism

The second manipulation check assessed if respondents in the atypical condition perceived the atypical product as more anthropomorphized as compared to participants in the typical condition. The question asked was: "To what extent does the design of the label remind you of human-like characteristics?" with respondents answering the questions on a 7-point scale.

Another ANOVA with the group variable as factor variable and perceived anthropomorphism as dependent measure revealed a significant result [(F (1,1) = 43.52, p < 0.01]. A visual inspection of the means revealed that respondents in the atypical condition perceived the label a s more anthropomorphized (4.04) as compared to the typical condition (2.25). Hence, it can be concluded that anthropomorphism is a meaningful strategy for enhancing atypicality of labels.

4.5 Analysis and results

4.5.1 The Effect of Atypicality on Interest

The first variable under observation was that of Interest. A univariant analysis of variance (analysis of variants ANOVA) was used to compare the interest in both groups. The findings show that the mean values for perceived interest are significant at 0.05 level of significance with the group variable at [F(1,1) = 4.48, p = 0.036]. This means that manipulated pickle label is perceived as more interesting. Therefore, interest is higher for atypical anthropomorphized label designs.

Comparing the mean of the control vs. the target group shows the control group with 3.92 and the target group with 4.43. This is a moderate difference, with a higher interest in the target group with the atypical label, than in the control group with the typical labels.

Table 4 illustrates the mean comparisons between the atypical condition and the typical condition for the two manipulation check variables typicality and anthropomorphism and the dependent measure interest.



TABLE 4. BAR CHART COMPARING TYPICAL VS. ATYPICAL CONDITIONS FOR TYPICALITY, INTEREST AND ANTHRO-POMORPHISM

4.5.2 The Effect of Interest on Attitude

Having confirmed that atypicality increases interest, the analysis proceeded with investigating the effect of interest on attitude. To test the second hypothesis, a linear regression was estimated, with the dependent variable attitude with the explanatory variable of Interest (Table 5).

Explanatory Variables	Coefficience (b)	T-Statistic	Significance
Constant	1.602	7.109	0.000
interest	0.751	14.734	0.000
Adjusted R-squared	0.59		
Standard Error of Regression	0.95		
F-Statistic	21.70		

TABLE 5. LINEAR REGRESSION ANALYSIS. DEPENDENT VARIABLE: ATTITUDE.

The linear regression shows that the attitude toward the brand can significantly be explained by the interest in the label and its atypicality (β =.75, p < 0.01). The higher the atypicality, the higher the interest and therefore the higher the attitude toward the brand. Therefore, H2 can be confirmed.

4.5.3 The Effect of attitude on purchase intention

Another linear regression analysis explored the effect of attitude on purchase intention (H3). More specifically, a single linear regression considered purchase intention as the dependent variable, and attitude as independent variable (Table 6).

Explanatory Variables	Coefficience (b)	T-Statistic	Significance
Constant	0.70	0.987	0.325
Attitude	0.918	16.570	0.000
Adjusted R-squared	0.64		
Standard Error of Regression	1.01		
F-Statistic	27.46		

TABLE 6. LINEAR REGRESSION ANALYSIS. DEPENDENT VARIABLE: PURCHASE INTENTION

The linear regression shows that the purchase intention is significantly influenced by the attitude toward the brand (β =.92, p < 0.01). The higher the brand attitude, the higher the purchase intention. Therefore, H3 can be confirmed.

Looking at the below conceptual model and comparing it to the developed hypothesis, and the obtained results it can be shown that perceived label design atypicality through anthropomorphism, positively increases consumer interest as well as consumer interest in the product, which in turn increases the consumer purchase intention (see Figure 9).



Figure 9. Detailed conceptual model and results of experiment 1

5 CONCLUSION AND CONTRIBUTION

Considering that a label design is among the first stimuli that consumers face when purchasing a standardised glass packaged product, understanding how such a label can influence consumer's interest or purchase intention, is crucial. Such understandings appear even more critical knowing the influential role that packaging shape plays in increasing a consumer's cognitive processing, will-ingness to pay and increased product quality judgement (van Ooijen et al. 2016). This is being reinforced when observing the growing social and legislative trend toward an expansion of standard-ised glass packagings, and that product differentiation using shape might become restricted. This understanding is relevant not only from a theoretical point of view, but also from a practical one, as product preference for (a)typical label designs could add or rescind from a brand's equity. The experiment undertaken in this study shows that when packaging shapes are standardised and

thus not a means of product differentiation, an atypical anthropomorphised label design increases consumer interest toward a product. Furthermore, it showed that anthropomorphism is an appropriate way of manipulating atypicality. It also shows that increased interest in the product leads to a more positive consumer attitude toward the product, which in turn leads to a higher consumer purchase intention.

There has been significant amount of research in the marketing and branding literature that look at packaging texture (Veryzer and Hutchinson 1998), shape (Folkes and Matta 2004; Raghubir and Greenleaf 2006; Schoormans and Robben 1997) and color (Garaus and Halkias 2019; Labrecque and Milne 2013), little attention however has up to date been devoted to the opportunities and challenges facing packaging label design within standardized packaging shape and its potential impact on consumers. Though conducted in a specific category of pickled pickles, the current research adds to the body of literature on label design by showing that anthropomorphised atypicality integrated into a label design has considerable effects on consumer interest, product attitude and purchase intention. It further adds to the literature by highlighting that marketers and branders alike can look at atypicality as a means of positive brand differentiation within standardised glass packaging. Crucially, the research outcomes also show that anthropomorphism is a suitable way of designing atypicality.

The present research has specific relevance for the design literature of labels and sheds light on the ways in which differentiation can be achieved. In agreement with the research of Schoormans and Robben (1997) who found that consumers were more interested in atypicality within a product category, this paper found that atypicality's ability to increase consumer interest spreads onto label design and not only to packaging shape.

The results have practical as well as theoretical implications for marketers and branders alike. From a theoretical standpoint, the theories that lead to the conceptual framework developed in this paper are long standing ones. However, their use in measuring atypical label design on consumer interest within standardised glass packaging is a novel one. It is this aspect that has implications for researchers as the conceptual model developed can be applied onto other fast-moving consumer goods that might be affected by changing legislation in standardised glass packaging. It also has implications for researchers as this paper provides a basis for further research in this area. From a practical point of view, as can be observed in multiple countries, reinforced by legislation being developed as is the case within the European Union, a shift is occurring from one-way towards multiple-way packaging, which paves the way for an increased use of standardised multiple-way packaging. While it cannot yet be determined how much time it will take for this process to reach a substantial market share, current developments all support the occurrence of such a development. This thereby has a possibly significant impact on the current and established branding processes and strategies - on the one hand creating critical limitations to what is being used by brands of all kinds and in various commodity groups and product lines. On the other hand, this development also has the potential of generating new opportunities and application options that can stimulate consumers in an entirely new approach. Early adopters of multiple way packaging could gain the support and attention from environmentally conscious consumers. Brands whose products categories might adapt to a standardised glass packaging, would benefit from considering innovative and creative label solution in advance, so as to approach the market ahead of its competitors. Furthermore, looking at the current standardised glass packagings labels in the Austrian market (milk, yoghurt and beer), atypical labels are not being used. On the contrary, the current standardised glass packaging labels follow uniformed designs. This study has shown that atypicality benefits from consumer interest, therefore incentivising existing brands to adapt their labels to a more atypical one, as well as inviting new product category brands to think ahead of the curve and already develop atypical labels for their products. While the application options and potential may not seem highly diverse for now, it should be considered that this is an area lacking relevant research and focus. This may then change fundamentally, once industry stakeholders focus on exploring application options. The rationale for these stakeholders to initiate such a focus are being made by the results gathered in this thesis. Against the backdrop of an increased rolling out of standardised glass packaging onto further product categories, the results gathered show that typical labels can be overshadowed by atypical labels.

In this regard, branders and marketers should keep in mind that atypicality doesn't only raise interest from consumers alone, but that this interest translated into a more positive product attitude and the latter into a higher purchase intention.

6 LIMITATIONS AND FURTHER RESEARCH:

The research undertaken has a number of limitations that propose interesting avenues for further research. A product's packaging is a key way to communicate a brand's message to consumers. Of particular relevance when it comes to consumers' purchasing intention, the latter has been seen as a key means of communication (Underwood et al. 2001; van Rompay et al. 2012). Consumer responses to label design can be influenced by countless variables, such as the presence of images (Boudreaux and Palmer 2007), colour (Garaus 2009) and of course price. In this research, the experiment investigated the role of atypical anthropomorphized labels to explain interest, attitude and purchase intentions. A consequence is that the results gathered do not facilitate the identification of the influence of color or label shape (the actual form of the label) on consumer interest, or whether either of those played a more persuasive role in influencing the consumer behaviour. The experiment indicated atypicality, but not specifically, which aspect of atypicality (color, label shape, anthropomorphism) influenced the consumer's interest the most.

Furthermore, as perceived among wine labels (Boudreaux and Palmer 2007) or coffee packaging (Schoormans & Robben 1997) moderate incongruity fares better within these particular product categories vis-à-vis consumer interest or preference. A further area of research could also be to assess what level of incongruity or atypicality appeals to consumers. This would mean explicitly differentiating between different levels of atypicality ranging from moderate to extreme and would again see the application of Mandler's (1982) schema incongruity theory, in order to see whether moderate incongruity from established schemata results in more favourable consumer evaluations and preferences. In keeping with this line of thought, future research could look at the application of different levels of (a)typicality and uncover which level of atypicality is most likely to generate the highest level of consumer interest and purchase intentions with consumers beyond the mere success of an efficient shopping trip to the grocery store.

Additionally, future research into the context-specific buying decision elements and the geographic location of the product can be looked into. As we saw from Celhay and Passebois' (2011) research, wine consumed at different occasions garners a higher or lower consumer response depending on the level of atypicality and risk perceived. Thus, should standardised glass packagings be rolled out onto future consumer goods, the occasion for which the said consumer good is intended needs to be taken into account. Furthermore, as was shown in Boudreaux and Palmer's (2007) research, depending on where the said product it sold, different tastes and preferences can be observed.

Future research might seek to uncover as to whether atypicality is a preferred label design in countries beyond of Germany.

The current research chose a FMCG as product category under observation. This means that the results gathered are mainly applicable to FMCG or products with a similar characteristic or within a similar product category. It must also be noted that the research setting of the current investigation was conducted online, and that the same investigation in store could potentially show dissimilar results, as consumer decision making process might vary in situ and may yield results that are more likely to mimic responses in the marketplace. The current thesis' hypothesis and findings show that within a product category where containers are all the same, atypical labels increase consumer interest. Though the research from some above academics support the findings, marketers should be aware that other products with uniform glass packaging might have consumers react differently to atypical label design. It would therefore be interesting for future researchers to see whether the results gathered in this experiment can be replicated across different product categories. Heilbrunn (2006) said that "the real aim of all packaging design is to find a balance between conformity, which reassures the end-user, and originality, which creates an element of surprise and allows a product to stand out." Thus, my recommendation to marketers would be to assess individual product categories with standardized glass packaging with their individual research and standards. Each product category needs to be treated individually and findings from one product category might not be uniformly applied to another product category. Research addressing the issues discussed above will have a significant contribution in the relevant literature.

7 **BIBLIOGRAPHY**

7.1 Books and Journals

Aaker, J.L. (1997). 'Dimensions of brand personality.' Journal of Marketing Research, 34 August: pp.347-56

Aaker, J.L., Fournier, S., Brasel, S.A. (2004). 'When good brands do bad.' Journal of Consumer Research, 31 (1): pp.1-16

Aggarwal, P., Mcgill, A.L. (2012). 'When brands seem human, do humans act like brands? Automatic behavioral priming effects of brand anthropomorphism.' Journal of Consumer Research, 39 (2) (2012): pp.307-323

Ang, S.H., Lee, Y.H., Leong, S.M. (2007). 'The ad creativity cube: conceptualization and initial validation.' JAcad Mark Sci 35(2): pp.220–232

Babader, A., Ren, J., Jones, K.O., Wang, J. (2016). , A system dynamics approach for enhancing social behaviours regarding the reuse of packaging.' Expert Syst. Appl., 46: pp.417-425

Babin, B. J., Darden, W. R. and Griffin, M. (1994). 'Work and/or fun: Measuring hedonic and utilitarian shopping value', Journal of Consumer Research, 20(4), pp.644-656.

Becker, L., Van Rompay, T.L., Schifferstein, H.N.J., Galetzka, M. (2011). 'Tough package, strong taste: The influence of packaging design on taste impressions and product evaluations.' Food Quality & Preference, 22(1): pp.17–23

Beinschab, S. (2020). 'Einführung eines Pfandsystems auf Getränkepackungen.' Research Affairs

Biel, A. (1993). 'Converting image into equity.' in Aaker, D.A. and Biel, A. (Eds), Brand Equity and Advertising, Erlbaum, Hillsdale, NJ.

Bloch, P.H. (1995). 'Seeking the Ideal Form: Product Design and Consumer Response.' Journal of Marketing, 59 (July): pp.16–29

Bloch, P.H., Brunel, F.F., Arnold, T.J. (2003). 'Individual differences in the centrality of visual product aesthetics: concept and measurement.' Journal of Consumer Research, 29 (4): pp.551-65

Boudreaux, C.A., Palmer, S.E. (2007), 'A charming little Cabernet: effects of wine label design on purchase intent and brand personality.' International Journal of Wine Business Research, 19 (3): pp.70-86

Celhay, F., Boysselle, J., Cohen, J. (2015). 'Food packages and communication through typeface design: The exoticism of exotypes.' Food Quality & Preference, 39(1): pp.167–175

Celhay, F. and Passebois, J. (2011), 'Wine labelling: is it time to break with tradition? A study of the moderating role of perceived risk.' International Journal of Wine Business Research, 23 (4): pp.318-337

Chen, R.P., Wan, E.W., Levy, E. (2017). 'The effect of social exclusion on consumer preference for anthropomorphized brands' Journal of Consumer Psychology, 27 (1): pp.23-34

Cleary, J. (2013). 'Life cycle assessments of wine and spirit packaging at the product and the municipal scale: a Toronto, Canada case study.' Journal of Cleaner Production, Volume 44: pp.143-151

Court, C., Elzinga, D., Mulder, S., Vetvik, O (2009). 'The consumer decision journey.' McKinsey Quarterly, June 2009

Cross, J. (2000). 'Street vendors, and postmodernity: Conflict and compromise in the global economy.' International Journal of Sociology and Social Policy, 20(1/2): pp.29–51

CEPI. (2018). 'Key statistics 2018 European pulp & paper industry.' Confederation of European Paper Industries. Brussels, Belgium.

Chitturi, R., Londono, J.C. and Amezquita, C.A. (2019). 'The influence of color and shape of package design on consumer preference: The case of orange juice.' International Journal of Innovation and Economic Development, 5(2): pp.42-56

Coelho, M., Megale, P., Corona, B., Klooster, R., Worrell, E. (2020). 'Sustainability of reusable packaging. Current situation and trends.' Resources, Conservation & Recycling: X, Volume 6

Cowan, M.L., Little, A.C. (2013). 'The effects of relationship context and modality on ratings of funniness.' Personality and Individual Differences, 54 (4): pp.496-500

Delbaere, M., McQuarrie, E.F., Phillips, B.J. (2011). 'Personification in advertising.' Journal of Advertising, 40 (1): pp.121-130

Dijksterhuis, A., Smith, P.K., Van Baaren, R.B., Wigboldus, D.H. (2005). 'The unconscious consumer: Effects of environment on consumer behavior.' Journal of Consumer Psychology, 15(3): pp.193–202

Delgado-Ballester, E., Fernandez-Sabiote, E., Hourubia-Pardo, A. (2013). 'Un estudio exploratorio sobre la generación de experiencias afectivo-sensoriales a través de los personajes de marca.' Universia Business Review, 37

Divard, R, Urien, B. (2001). 'Le consommateur vit dans un monde en couleurs.' Recherches et Applications en Marketing, 16 (1): pp. 3-24.

Dubiel, M. (1996). 'Costing structures of reusable packaging systems.' Packag. Sci. Technol., 9: pp.237-254

Ellen MacArthur Foundation. (2017). 'The New Plastics Economy: Catalysing Action.' Pp.1-68

Epley, N., Waytz, A., Cacioppo, J.T. (2007). 'On seeing human: A three-factor theory of anthropomorphism.' Psychological Review, 114 (4): pp.864-886

European Parliament's Committee on Foreign Affairs. (2011). 'A European Refunding Scheme for Drinks Containers.' European Parliament: pp.5-7

Fehringer, R. (2019). 'Ökobilanz für Gebinde aus PET und anderen Materialien.' c7-consult – sustainable performance: pp.5-9 Further statistics on the impact categories of single-use and multiple-use glass containers can be found on the full report on pp.33-47

Festinger, L. and Maccoby, N. (1964). 'On resistance to persuasive communications.' Journal of Abnormal and Social Psychology, 68 (4): pp.359-366

Field, A. (2009). 'Discovering statistics using SPSS.' Sage Publications, London.

Folkes, V., Matta, S. (2004). 'The effect of package shape on consumers' judgments of product volume: attention as a mental contaminant.' J Consumer Res 31(2): pp.390–401

Fournier, S. (1994). 'A consumer-brand relationship framework for strategy brand management.' unpublished doctoral dissertation, University of Florida.

Garaus, M., Halkias, G. (2019). 'One color fits all: product category color norms and (a)typical package colors.' Review of Managerial Science. Review Managerial Science 14, 1077–1099: pp.1-23

Garber, L.L. (1995). 'The package appearance in choice.' Advances in Consumer Research, 22(1): pp.653–660

Gardas, BB., Raut, R.D., Narkhede, B. (2019). ,identifying critical success factors to facilitate reusable plastic packaging towards supply chain management.' J. Environ. Manage., 263: pp.81-92

Golding, A. (1999). 'Reuse of Primary Packaging – Finale Report.' Abfallberatung, Müllvermeidung & Recycling, Germany

Goodstein, R.C. (1993). 'Category-based applications and extensions in advertising: motivating more exten-sive ad processing.' J Consum Res 20(1): p.87

Grunert, K. G. (2005). 'Food quality and safety: Consumer perception and demand.' European Review of Agricultural Economics, 32(3): pp.369–391

Halkias ,G., Kokkinaki, F. (2014). 'The degree of ad-brand incongruity and the distinction between schema- driven and stimulus-driven attitudes.' J Advert 43(4): pp.397–409.

Han, N.R., Baek, T.H., Yoon, S., Kim, Y. (2019). 'Is that coffee mug smiling at me? How anthropomorphism impacts the effectiveness of desirability vs. feasibility appeals in sustainability advertising.' Journal of Retailing and Consumer Services, 51: pp. 352-361

Hastie, R. (1980). 'Memory for information which confirms or contradicts a general impression.' in Person Memory: The Cognitive Basis of Social Perception. London: Psychology Press. pp.155-77

Heđa, M., Valdec, D., Hajdek, K., Miljkovic, P. (2018). 'Influence of beer label design on marking decision about choosing and buying product.' University of Novi Sad, Faculty of Technical Sciences, Department of Graphic Engineering and Design

Heilbrunn, B. (2006), 'Le Marketing à l'épreuve Du Design", in Flamand, B. (Ed.), Le Design: Essais sur des théories et des Pratiques, Editions de l'Institut Français de la mode & Editions du regard, Paris

Hekkert, M.P., Joosten, L.A.J., Worrell, E., Turkenburg, W.C. (2000) 'Reduction of CO₂ emissions by improved management of material and product use: the case of primary packaging' Resour. Conserv. Recycl., 29: pp.33-64

Henderson, P., Cote, J., Leong, S., Schmitt, B. (2003). 'Building strong brands in Asia: Selecting the visual components of image to maximize brand strength.' International Journal of Research in Marketing. 20: pp.297-313

Hogg, D., Elliott, T., Gibbs, A., Grant, A., Sherrington, C. (2017). 'Impact of a Deposit Refund System for One-way Beverage Packaging on Local Authority Waste Services.' Eunomia Research & Consulting Ltd: pp.1-5

Holbrook, M.B., Barta, R. (1987). 'Assessing the Role of Emotions as Mediators of Consumer Responses to Advertising.' The Journal of Consumer Research 14(3): pp.404-420

Holdway, R., Walker, D. and Hilton, M. (2002). 'Ecodesign and Successful packaging.' Design Management Journal 13: pp.45-53

Hunt, R.G. and Franklin, W.E. (1996). 'LCA- How it came about - personal reflections on the origin and LCA in the USA.' Int. J. Life Cycle Assess, 1: pp.4-7

Kantar World Panel. (2017). 'The Future Of E-Commerce in FMCG.' Issue 4, November

Kirchher, J., Reike, D., Hekkert, M. (2017). 'Conceptualizing the circular economy: an analysis of 114 definitions.' Resour. Conserv. Recycl., 127: pp.221-232

Kleider, H.M., Pezdek, K., Goldinger, S.D., Kirk, A. (2008). 'Schema-driven source misattribution errors: Remembering the expected from a witnessed event.' Applied Cognitive Psychology, 22(1): pp.1–20.

Labrecque, L. and Milne G. (2012) 'Exciting red and competent blue: the importance of color in marketing.' J Acad Mark Sci 40(5), pp.711–727

Lajos, J., Katona, Z., Chattopadhyay, A., Sarvary, M. (2009). 'Category activation model: a spreading activa- tion network model of subcategory positioning when categorization uncertainty is high.' J Consum Res 36(1): pp.122–136

Lewis, H., Gertsakis, J., Grant, T., Morelli, N. and Sweatman, A. (2001). 'Design + environment, a global guide to designing greener goods.' Greenleaf publishing.

Lofthouse, V.A. (2014). 'A Creative Approach to Investigating Refillable Packaging Systems.' UK:

Loughborough University

Lunardo, R., Rickard, B. (2019). 'How do consumers respond to fun wine labels?' British Food Journal, 122 (8): pp.2603-2319

Mandrik, C. A. (1996). 'Consumer Heuristics: the Tradeoff Between Processing Effort and Value in Brand Choice.' in NA - Advances in Consumer Research Volume 23, eds. Kim P. Corfman and John G. Lynch Jr., Provo, UT: Association for Consumer Research, pp.301-307

McGill, A.L., Anand, P. (1989). 'The effect of vivid attributes on the evaluation of alternatives: The role of differential attention and cognitive elaboration.' Journal of Consumer Research 16: pp.188-196

Moon, J., Chadee, D., Tikoo, S. (2006). 'Culture, product type, and price influences on consumer purchase intention to buy personalized product online.' Journal of Business Research 61: pp.31-39

Morawski, C. (2017). 'The push for reusable packaging.' Resour. Recycl., July: pp.68-70

Neill, C., and Williams, R. (2016). 'Consumer preference for alternative milk packaging: the case of an inferred environmental attribute.' Journal of Agricultural and Applied Economics, 48(3): pp.241-256

Orth, U.R., Malkewitz, K. (2012). 'The accuracy of design-based judgments: a constructivist approach.' J Retail 88(3): pp.421–436

Orth, U.R., Malkewitz, K. (2008). 'Holistic package design and consumer brand impressions.' J Mark 72(3): pp.64–81

Orzan, G., Cruceru, A., Bălăceanu, C., Chivu, R. (2018). 'Consumers' Behavior Concerning Sustainable Packaging: An Exploratory Study on Romanian Consumers.' Sustainability 10(6):1787: pp.2-11

Perrachio, L.A. and Tybout, M.A. (1996). 'The moderating role of prior knowledge in schemabased product evaluation.' Journal of Consumer Research, 23 (3): pp.177-92.

Piqueras-Fiszman, B., Velasco, C., Salgado-Montejo, A., Spence, C. (2013). 'Using combined eye tracking and word association in order to assess novel packaging solutions: A case study involving jam jars.' Food Quality & Preference, 28: pp.328–338.

Potting, J., Hekkert, M., Worrell, E., Hanemaaijer, A. (2017). 'Circular Economy: Measuring innovation in the Product Chain.' The Hague: PBL

Puzakova, M., Aggarwal P. (2015) 'To wink or not to wink? The role of anthropomorphism, power, and gender stereotypes in luxury branding.' ACR North American Advances

Rachlin, H. (2003). 'Rational thought and rational behavior: A review of bounded rationality: The adaptive toolbox.' Journal of the Experimental Analysis of Behavior. 79(3): pp.409–412

Radhakrishnan, S. (2015). 'Environmental Implications of Reuse and Recycling of Packaging.' Edition: Singapur: Springer-Verlag: pp.165-192

Raghubir, P. and Greenlead, M. (2006). 'Ratios in proportion: What should the shape of the package be?' Journal of Marketing. 70, pp.95–107

Reber, R., Schwarz, N., Winkielman, P. (2004). 'Processing fluency and aesthetic pleasure: Is beauty in the perceiver's processing experience?' Pers Soc Psychol Rev 8(4), pp.364–382

Reike, D., Vermeulen, W.J.V. S., Witjes, S. (2018). 'The circular economy: New or Refurbished as CE 3.0? — exploring controversies in the conceptualization of the circular economy through a focus on history and resource value retention options.' Resour. Conserv. Recycl., 135: pp.246-264

Rigamonti, L., Biganzoli, L., Grosso. M. (2019). 'Packaging re-use: a starting point for its quantification.'J. Mater. Cycles .Waste Manage., 21: pp.35-43

Sarangapani, A. and Mamatha, T. (2008). 'Rural consumer behaviour with regard to selected FMCGs consumption patterns and brand usage: A study.' The ICFAI University Journal of Brand Management, Vol. 5(3): pp.22-61

Schoormans, J.P., Henry, L. and Robben, S.J. (1997). "The effect of new package design on product attention, categorization and evaluation." J Econ Perspect 18(2–3): pp.271–287

Scott, C., Klein, D.M. and Bryant, J. (1990). 'Consumer response to humor in advertising: a series of field studies using behavioral observation.' Journal of Consumer Research, 16 (4): pp.498-501

Sheinin, D.A., Varki, S., Ashley, C. (2011). 'The differential effect of ad novelty and message usefulness on brand judgments.' J Advert 40(3): pp.5–18

Silayoi, P., Speece, M. (2007). 'The importance of packaging attributes: A conjoint analysis approach.' European Journal of Marketing, 41(11/12): pp.1495–1517.

Silva, D.A.L., Reno, G.W.S., Sevegnani, G., Sevegnani, T.B., Truzzi, O.M.S. (2013). 'Comparison of disposable and returnable packaging: a case study of reverse logistics in Brazil.' Journal of Cleaner Production, 47: pp.377–87

Silvia, P.J. (2005). 'What Is Interesting? Exploring the Appraisal Structure of Interest.' Emotion (Washington, D.C.), 5(1): pp.89-102

Silvia, P. J. (2006). 'Exploring the Psychology of Interest.' Oxford University Press.

Sirgy, J. (1982). 'Self-concept in consumer behavior: a critical review.' Journal of Consumer Research, Vol. 9: pp. 287-300

Simon, B., Ben Amor, M., Foldenyi, R. (2016). 'Life cycle impact assessment of beverage packaging systems: focus on the collection of post-consumer bottles.' J. Clean. Prod, 112: pp.238-248

Snelders, D., Hekkert, P. (1999). 'Association measures as predictors of product originality.' In: Eric J, Arnould EJ, Linda M, Scott LM (eds) NA—advances in consumer research, vol 26, Association for Consumer Research, Provo: pp.588–592

Solomon, M.R., Bamossy, G., Askegaard, S. (2006). 'Consumer Behaviour: A European Perspective.' 3rd ed. London: Prentice Hall

Sujan, M., Bettman, J.R. (1989). 'The effects of brand positioning strategies on consumers' brand and category perceptions: some insights from schema research.' J Mark Res 26(4): pp.454–467

Sung, B., Vanman, J.E., Hartley, N., Phau, I. (2016). ,The emotion of interest and its relevance to consumer psychology and behavior.' Australasian Marketing Journal (AMJ), 24(4): pp.337-343

Talke, K., Müller, S., Wieringa, J.E. (2017). 'A matter of perspective: design newness and its performance effects.' Int Res Mark 34(2): pp.399–413

Technavio. (2021). 'FMCG Logistics Market in Europe by Service and Geography - Forecast and Analysis 2021-2025.'

Triantos, A., Plakoyiannaki, E., Outra, E., Petridis, N. (2016). 'Anthropomorphic packaging: Is there life on "Mars"?' European Journal of Marketing, 50 (1/2): pp.260-275

Ulrich, R.S. (1983). 'Aesthetic and affective response to natural environment.' In: Altman I, Wohlwill J (eds) Human behavior and environment: behavior and natural environment, vol 6. Plenum, New York: pp.85-125

Underwood, R.L., Klein, N.M., Burke, R.R. (2001). ,Packaging communication: attentional effects of product imagery.' J Prod Brand Manag 10(7): pp.403–422.

van Ooijen, I., Fransen, M.L., Verlegh, P.W.J., Smit, E.G. (2016). ,Atypical food packaging affects the persuasive impact of product claims.' Food Quality and Preference, Volume 48, Part A: pp.33-40

van Rompay, T.J.L., Fransen, M., Borgelink, B.D. (2013) 'Light as a feather: effects of packaging imagery on sensory product impressions and brand evaluation.' Mark Lett 1: pp.1–11

Velasco, F., Yang, Z., Janakiraman, N. (2020). 'A meta-analytic investigation of consumer response to anthropomorphic appeals: The roles of product type and uncertainty avoidance.' Journal of Business Research

Veryzer, R.W. Jr., Hutchinson, J.W. (1998). 'The in uence of unity and prototypicality on aesthetic responses to new product designs.' J Consumer Res 24(4): pp.374–385

Wan, J., Aggarwal P. (2015). 'Befriending Mr. Clean. The role of anthropomorphism in consumerbrand relationships.' Strong Brands, Strong Relationships: pp.119-134

Wansink, B., 1996. 'Can package size accelerate usage volume?' Journal of Marketing 60(3): pp.1-14

Waytz, A., Heafner, J., Epley. N. (2014). 'The mind in the machine: Anthropomorphism increases trust in an autonomous vehicle.' Journal of Experimental Social Psychology, 52: pp.113-117

Welcome, J. (2011). 'Using reusables to the max.' Packag. Digest: pp.46-48

Weinberg, P. Gottwald, W. (1982). 'Impulsive consumer buying as a result of emotions.' Journal of Business Research, Volume 10, Issue 1: pp.43-57

Weinberger, M.G., Gulas, C.S. (1992). 'The impact of humor in advertising: a review.' Journal of Advertising, 21 (4): pp.35-59

Wertheimer, M. (1925). 'Untersuchungen zur Lehre von der Gestalt: II.' Psychologische Forschung, 4 (2), pp.301–350

Woodward, A.L. (1999). 'Infants' ability to distinguish between purposeful and non-purposeful behaviors.' Infant Behavior and Development, 22 (2): pp.145-160

Yuan, L., Dennis, A. (2017). 'Interacting like humans? Understanding the effect of anthropomorphism on consumer's willingness to pay in online auctions.' In Proceedings of the 50th Hawaii International Conference on System Sciences

7.2 Online sources

Albrecht, C. (2020). 'Burger King partners with Loop to Pilot Reusable Packaging.' The Spoon. Available: https://thespoon.tech/burger-king-partners-with-loop-to-pilot-reusable-packaging/ 2-retrieved on 8th December 2020

Aldi. (2019). 'ALDI announces commitments to plastic packaging.' Available: https://corporate.aldi.us/fileadmin/fm-dam/Corporate_Responsibility2/Press_Releases/Press_Release_Packaging_and_Plastics_Final.pdf - retrieved on: 25th May 2021

Cambridge. (2021). 'Label Definition'. Available: <u>https://dictionary.cambridge.org/dictionary/eng-lish/label</u> - 'Packaging Definition.' Available: <u>https://dictionary.cambridge.org/dictionary/eng-lish/packaging</u> - retrieved 25th May 2021

Carrefour (2021). Available: https://www.carrefour.fr/s?q=vin%20rouge – retrieved on: 1st June 2021

Cherry, K. (2021). 'Heuristics and Cognitive Biases'. Available: https://www.verywellmind.com/what-is-a-heuristic-2795235#citation-3 – retrieved on: 20th May 2021.

Coca-Cola. (2020). 'Business & Environmental, Social and Governance Report 2020.' Available: https://www.coca-colacompany.com/content/dam/journey/us/en/reports/coca-colabusiness-environmental-social-governance-report-2020.pdf#page=31 – retrieved on: 20th December 2020

Der Standard. (2020). 'Rewe und Spar starten im März mit Mehrweg-Milchflasche.' Available: https://www.derstandard.at/story/2000114659899/rewe-startet-im-maerz-mit-mehrweg-milchflasche- retrieved on: 12th November 2020

Deliveroo. (2019). 'Deliveroo announces reusable packaging partnership with Returnr in world-first scheme.' Available: https://au.deliveroo.news/news/sustainability.html – retrieved on 28th December 2020

Deloitte. (2019). 'Deposit-Refund System (DRS). Facts & Myths.' Avaialble: https://www2.deloitte.com/content/dam/Deloitte/pl/Documents/Brochures/pl_DRS_Brochure_Deloitte.pdf - retrieved on: 5th October 2020

DM. (2020). 'Abfüllstationen: Nachfüllen statt neu kaufen!' Available: https://www.dm.at/inspiration-und-beratung/abfuellstationen-fuer-wasch-und-spuelmittel-490176 - retrieved: 1st February 2021

Doherty, J. (2020). 'Scotland delays DRS introduction.' Letsrecycle. Available: https://www.letsrecycle.com/news/latest-news/scotland-delays-drs-introduction/ - retrieved on: 2nd October 2020

EPP European Plastics Pact. (2020) Available: https://www.eventtouch.eu/IM/europeanplasticspact/file/4d9ed05b72145666a8f7537700f42c56/European%20Plastics%20Pact%20FINAL.pdf – retrieved: 29th November 2020

Eunomia. (2019). 'A DRS for Turkey.' Available: https://www.reloopplatform.org/wp-content/up-loads/2019/10/Turkey-Report-Final.pdf - retrieved on: 1st October 2020

EUR-Lex. (1994). 'Packaging and packaging waste.' Available: https://eur-lex.europa.eu/legal-content/EN/TXT/?uri=LEGISSUM:I21207 – retrieved on 11th October 2020

Eurobarometer. (2008). 'Attitudes of European citizens towards the environment.' Available: http://www.arpat.toscana.it/notizie/arpatnews/2009/allegati/041a.pdf – retrieved on: 9th Ocotber 2020

European Parliament. (2011). 'A European refunding scheme for drinks containers.' Available: https://www.europarl.europa.eu/RegData/etudes/note/join/2011/457065/IPOL-AFET_NT(2011)457065_EN.pdf - retrieved on: 11th November 2020

Eurostat. (2011). 'Packaging waste by waste management operations.' Available: https://appsso.eurostat.ec.europa.eu/nui/show.do?dataset=env_waspac&lang=en – retrieved on: 09.09.2020

Eurostat. (2017). 'Development of all packaging waste generated, recovered and recycled, EU-27, 2007-2017.' Available: https://ec.europa.eu/eurostat/statistics-explained/index.php?title=Packaging_waste_statistics – retrieved on: 9th September 2020

Eurostat. (2018). 'Municipal waste generated, 2005 and 2018.' Available: https://ec.europa.eu/eurostat/statistics-explained/index.php?title=Municipal_waste_statistics – retrieved on: 10th September 2020

Eurostat. (2018). 'Packaging waste generated, recovered and recycled, EU-27, 2008-2018.' Available: https://ec.europa.eu/eurostat/statistics-explained/index.php?title=Packaging_waste_statistics - accessed: 25th May 2021

Ferrero. (2020). 'Latest Updates from the Ferroro Group on its 2025 packaging commitment.' Available: https://www.ferrero.com/news/latest-updates-from-the-ferrero-group-on-its-2025packaging-commitment - Retrieved on: 2nd May 2021 Greenpeace. (2020). 'Lidl und Hofer, wir wollen Mehrweg.' Available: https://plastik.greenpeace.at/lidl-hofer-wir-wollen-mehrweg/ - retrieved on: 3rd October 2020

Hyslop, G. (2020). 'Capitalizing on the small pack trend.' Available: https://www.bakeryandsnacks.com/Article/2020/11/26/Capitalising-on-the-small-pack-trend retrieved on: 2nd October 2020

Ja Natürlich. (2020). 'Neu: Milch im Mehrweg-Glas.' Available: https://www.janatuerlich.at/magazin/ja-natuerlich-bio-milch-joghurt-glas-einweg-mehrweg-pfand/ - retrieved on: 2nd October 2020

Manning, L. (2019). 'Aldi pledges fully sustainable packaging by 2025.' Grocery Dive. Available: https://www.grocerydive.com/news/aldi-pledges-fully-sustainable-packaging-by-2025/552018/ retrieved on: 29th January 2021

Marketing Sherpa. 'How Snapple Brings a Powerful Personal Touch to Mass Consumer Marketing.' Available: https://www.marketingsherpa.com/article/how-to/how-snapple-brings-powerful-per-sonal - retrieved on: 10th May 2021.

McVeigh, K. (2020). 'Coca-Cola, Pepsi and Nestlé named top plastic polluters for third year in a row.' Guardian. Available: https://www.theguardian.com/environment/2020/dec/07/coca-cola-pepsi-and-nestle-named-top-plastic-polluters-for-third-year-in-a-row retrieved: 7th December 2020

Paleo Foundation. 'Heuristics: Reducing Consumer Decision Friction.' Available: https://paleo-foundation.com/heuristics-decision-friction/ - retrieved on: 21th May 2021

Pfanner, E. (2006). 'French wine opens up to brand culture.' The New York Times. Available: <u>www.nytimes.com/2006/07/23/business/worldbusiness/23iht-wine.2273979.html</u> - retrieved on: 1st June 2021

Plastics Europe. (2018). 'Plastics – the Facts 2018. An analysis of European plastics production, demand and waste data.' Available: https://www.plasticseurope.org/application/files/6315/4510/9658/Plastics_the_facts_2018_AF_web.pdf - retrieved 20th September 2020

Procter and Gamble. (2021). 'Environmental Sustainability.' Available: https://us.pg.com/environmental-sustainability/ - retrieved on: 21st April 2021

PWC. (2011). 'Mehrweg- und Recyclingsysteme für ausgewählte Getränkeverpackungen aus Nachhaltigkeitssicht.' Available: https://www.duh.de/uploads/tx_duhdownloads/DUH_Getraenkeverpackungssysteme.pdf - retrieved on: 11th February 2021

Radu, V. 'Consumer behavior in marketing – patterns, types, segmentation.' Omniconvert. Available: https://www.omniconvert.com/blog/consumer-behavior-in-marketing-patterns-types-segmentation/ - retrieved on: 20th May 2021.

Reloop. (2020). 'The vanishing Refillable.' Available: https://www.reloopplatform.org/beveragesales-by-container-type-in-austria-16/ - retrieved on: 14th December 2020 Secore, C. 'How to use heuristics Marketing to Your Advantage.' Marketing Profs. Available: https://www.marketingprofs.com/articles/2015/28858/how-to-use-heuristics-to-your-marketing-advantage - retrieved on: 20th May 2021.

Skoda, E. (2017). 'On-the-go: the trend that's here to stay.' Packaging Europe. Available: https://packagingeurope.com/on-the-go-food-convenience-trend/ - retrieved 1st February 2021

Sordo, F. (2020). 'Deposit-Refund Systems: Save Money, Reduce Waste and save the Planet.' Ecobn. Available: https://ecobnb.com/blog/2020/03/deposit-refund-system/ - retrieved on: 1st September 2020

Spar. (2020). 'Mehrweg ist wieder im Trend.' Available: https://www.spar.at/nachhaltigkeit/produkte/verpackungen/mehrweg - retrieved on 12th November 2020

Statista. (2019). 'if a bottle deposit scheme (DRS) was introduced in the UK and you had easy access to an 'empty drink container' how likely would you be to use this?' Available: https://www.statista.com/statistics/1028031/likelihood-of-using-deposit-return-scheme-great-britain/#statisticContainer - Retrieved 10th September 2020

Technavio (2021). 'FMCG Logistics Market in Europe by Service and Georgraphy – Forecast and Analysis 2021-2025.' Available: https://www.technavio.com/report/fmcg-logistics-market-in-europe-industry-analysis – retrieved on: 21st May 2021

Tomra Newsroom. (2017). 'Reverse Vending 101: A beginner's guide.' Available: https://newsroom.tomra.com/reverse-vending-101-a-beginners-guide/ - retrieved: 11th Novmeber 2020

Vetropack. (2021). 'A lighter way to enjoy glass.' Available: https://www.vetropack.at/fileadmin/doc/01_publications/04_Brochures/leichtglas_en.pdf -accessed on: 12th February 2021

Walls, M. (2011). 'Deposit-Refund Systems in Practice and Theory.' Available: https://ssrn.com/abstract=1980142 or http://dx.doi.org/10.2139/ssrn.1980142 – retrieved on 12th December 2020

Wild. (2021). Available: https://www.wearewild.com/pages/sign-up#/step1 - retrieved on: 21st April 2021

Zero Waste Austria. (2020). 'Verpackungsfrei einkaufen in Wien.' Available: https://www.zerowasteaustria.at/verpackungsfrei-einkaufen-in-wien.html - retrieved on: 12th February 2021

8 APPENDIX